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Annual General Meeting Agenda 
Mennonite Central Committee Ontario 
Sep 25, 2023 at 7:00 PM EDT to Sep 25, 2023 at 8:30 PM EDT, Zoom 

Agenda
I. Welcome, Land Acknowledgement & Opening Prayer
Presenter: Lynn Rempel, Board Chair 

II. Declaration of Quorum & Description of Voting Procedure
Presenter: Irene Gibbins, Board Secretary 

III. Approval of the 2023 MCC Ontario Annual General Meeting Agenda
Presenter: Lynn Rempel, Board Chair 

Motion: To accept the September 25, 2023, Annual General Meeting Agenda, as presented. 

IV. Approval of the 2022 MCC Ontario Annual General Meeting Minutes
Presenter: Irene Gibbins, Board Secretary 

Motion: To accept and approve the 2022 MCC Ontario Annual General Meeting Minutes, as 
presented. 

V. 2022-2023 MCC Ontario Audited Financial Statements
Presenter: Eugene Reesor, Board Treasurer 

A. Presentation and Overview of the 2022-2023 MCC Ontario Audited Financial
Statements

Motion: To approve the 2022-2023 MCC Ontario audited financial statements, as
presented.

B. Appointment of the Financial Auditor for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year

Motion: To appoint E.M. Simon LLP as auditor for the 2023-2024 fiscal year.

VI. 2023-2024 MCC Ontario Slate of Directors
Presenter: Trisha Ashworth, Board Vice Chair 

Motion: To accept and approve the 2023-2024 MCC Ontario Slate of Directors, as 
recommended by the MCC Ontario Board of Directors. 

VII. MCC Ontario Executive Director Presentation
Presenter: Michelle Brenneman, MCC Ontario Executive Director 

VIII. Closing Prayer & Meeting Adjournment
Presenter: Lynn Rempel, Board Chair 

Motion: To adjourn the 2023 MCC Ontario Annual General Meeting. 

https://mcc.zoom.us/j/81611647368?pwd=bUJyb3lrOFRUZ01ySER0YnNLdEw2dz09


MINUTES 
MCCO Annual General Meeting 

September 19, 2022 
ZOOM 

 
1) Opening: 

a) Attendance: 
b) The meeting took place on Zoom. 

2) Welcome & Prayer: 
a) At 7:00 pm Board Chair Lynn Rempel introduced herself and opened the meeting by welcoming participants to 

the Annual General Meeting. Lynn read the land acknowledgement written by the TRRC committee: 
i) We first acknowledge the land we are gathered on, as a way to honour and bring awareness to Indigenous 

peoples and their experiences. 
ii) We recognize that our office at 50 Kent Ave is located on the traditional territory of the Anishnawbe and the 

Haudenosaunee Indigenous peoples which dates back to the Haldimand Treaty of 1784. 
iii) We realize that the impacts of settler colonialism have resulted in historical and ongoing oppression and 

injustices for Indigenous peoples, including displacement from the lands that Indigenous peoples call home. 
iv) As a people who continue to disproportionately benefit from the actions of those who settled this land,  

(1) we want to encourage all of us to consider how we might work towards justice for all people and all 
creation, 

(2) to affirm the contributions that Indigenous peoples are making towards shaping and strengthening 
communities across Ontario, 

(3) and to contribute toward new paths of reconciliation between Indigenous peoples and settlers. 
v) We invite you to acknowledge the territory on which you find yourself today if it is different from our 

location at 50 Kent in Kitchener, 
vi) One way that MCCO is working towards reconciliation is through our Indigenous neighbours Programme 
vii) If you would like to know what territory you are on then please contact our Indigenous Neighbours 

Programme. 
viii) We invite you to join us in this ongoing work if you feel so called. 

b) Lynn read the Identity Statement and related scripture from the MCC Principles and Practices document and 
invited God’s blessing. 

c) Lynn gave instructions for participation in the meeting by Zoom. This included asking questions and voting. 
3) Secretary Business 

a) Keith Regehr, Board Secretary introduced himself. 
b) He indicated that we do have quorum, meaning that we have at least 50% of those who registered as delegates 

from member conferences and at least 50% of current board members. 
c) He described voting procedures: A poll will appear on all screens. This is a limit of the technology as Zoom cannot 

present the poll to a subset of the attendees. Those not entitled to vote are requested to refrain from doing so 
and those that are entitled to vote are asked to respond to the poll when it appears. 

d) Motion 1 to accept and approve the September 19, 2022 AGM agenda. 
i) Moved by Denis Wall, seconded by Irene Gibbons, APPROVED 

e) Motion 2 to accept the minutes of the September 20, 2021 AGM 
i) Moved by Keith Regehr, seconded by Ed Willms, APPROVED 

4) Policy and Bylaw Committee 
a) John Abraham introduced the motion which makes amendments to the Bylaw to create the role of a Diversity 

Officer. 
b) Motion 3 to amend the Bylaw as described 

i) Moved by John Abraham, seconded by Trisha Ashworth, APPROVED. 
5) Audit and Finance Committee: 

a) Eugene Reesor, Chair of Audit and Finance Committee and Board Treasurer introduced himself introduced 
himself and presented the financial report.  

b) The last financial year was very good. Revenue was up significantly from the previous year. Ontario programme 
expenditures were up, as were the forwardings to MCCC for international programme. 

c) Important note: we are holding significant reserves for refugee programme pending approval for the refugees to 



come to Canada. 
d) Eugene reviewed the income sources, main expense areas, and the status of the reserve funds.  
e) Motion 4 to approve the audited financial statements 

i) Moved by Eugene Reesor, seconded by Bruce Yoder. APROVED. 
f) Motion 5 to appoint E. M. Simon LLP as auditor for the next fiscal year. 

i) Moved by Eugene Reesor, seconded by Jean de Dieu Basabose. APPROVED 
6) Nominating Committee 

a) Trisha Ashworth, Chair of the Nominating Committee introduced herself and presented the report, outlining 
changes to board membership.  
i) Departing Board members: Tammy Cressman, Kat Dyck Steinmann, Hayden Epp, Rich Janzen, Keith Martin 

and Arja Sanfilippo were acknowledged. 
ii) Officer appointments: Trisha Ashworth (Vice Chair), Irene Gibbens (Secretary), Denis Wall (Diversity Officer). 
iii) New board members: Jean Higginson (BIC), Randy Lepp (MCEC), Ruth Charette (Student, CGUC). 
iv) It was noted that these lists are different from the package due to recent changes. 

b) Motion 6 to approve these appointments 
i) Moved by Trisha Ashworth, seconded by John Abraham. APPROVED. 

7) ED Report 
a) 2020/2025 Strategic Plan Year End Report   

i) John Head, the Executive Director, reviewed the dashboard report for the 2020/2025 strategic plan. This is 
not the annual report for the public, rather it is the way that staff is accountable to the Board. There are 8 
strategic directions, 6 of which are shared across the MCC system, and 2 are Ontario specific.  
(1) Every direction was either improved or remained the same. 
(2) Direction 4 is related to aligning programme and operations with commitment to creation care and 

responding to climate change. This was rated at 1 last year and remained the same. This has been 
hampered by the pandemic and staff capacity. 

(3) Direction 5 is related to social enterprise. This was at 1 last year due to closing under Covid restrictions. 
There was good progress due to lifting restrictions as things return to normal. 

ii) John pointed to what was learned through the analysis.  
(1) Highlights: importance of being nimble, increasing polarization in our member churches, importance of 

balancing priorities based on available resources. 
(2) Challenges and opportunities 

(a) Difficulty in hiring and retaining staff due to shifts in the NGO sector. 
(b) Cyber security risks 

iii) Delegates were referred to the detailed descriptions related to each strategic direction. 
iv) Direction 6 regarding sustainability of MCC. 
v) Conclusion regarding how much we have to be thankful for. 

b) Discussion: 
i) Ron Mathies: well done meeting. Analytics is impressive. There is a tension between wanting to do analytics 

and wanting to be doing the work. Where are the tough spots in covenant and how good is the glue? 
(1) Balance: a continued effort to keep this right. New database tool to track the information and produce 

reports that will make this easier. 
(2) Covenant is under revision. Agreement in principle among Canadian MCCs. Not signed yet pending 

completion on the MCCC/MCCUS covenant. There are issues and differences of opinion, for example, 
how to use policy frameworks. There are steps in process to move the discussion forward. 

(3) The glue in Canada is strong. Lots of desire to make it work, but Canada and US are in different places. 
c) Appreciation to Julia Haig for strong organization 

8) Motion 7 to adjourn 
a) Moved by Keith Regehr, seconded by John Abraham. APPROVED 

9) Closing Prayer 
a) Lynn Rempel closed the meeting with prayer. 

 
Minutes recorded by Keith Regehr 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Directors of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario)

Qualified Opinion

Professional Corporation

September 19, 2023

Waterloo, ON

E.M. Simon CPA Professional Corporation
Authorized to practise public accounting by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario

22 King Street South, Waterloo, ON  N2J 1N8

simon@simoncorp.ca    (519) 744-1650

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout

the audit. I also:

•     Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

In common with many charitable organizations, Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario) derives a portion of its revenues from the general public in the

form of donations and sales of donated goods, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, my verification

of revenues from these sources was limited to accounting for the amounts recorded in the records of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario).  

Therefore, I was not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenues, excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses, and cash

flows for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, current assets as at March 31, 2023 and 2022, and net assets as at April 1, 2021 and March 31,

2023 and 2022. My audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022 was also modified because of the possible effects of

the same limitation in scope.

•     Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the organization's internal control.

•     Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

management.
•     Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the organization's ability to continue as a going

concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my

auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the organization to cease to continue as a going concern.
•     Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures and whether the financial statements

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

I have audited the financial statements of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31,

2023, and the statements of operations and changes in net assets for the Operating Fund and the Capital Fund, and the statement of cash flows, for the

year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion paragraph, the accompanying financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario) as at March 31, 2023 and its

consolidated results of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows, for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards

for Not-for-profit Organizations.

Basis of Qualified Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the entity in

accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for my qualified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting

Standards for Not-for-profit Organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the organization's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the

organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the organization's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures as at March 31, 2022

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

  

____________ 2023 ____________ ___________ 2022 __________

ASSETS

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

CURRENT Fund Fund Fund Fund

Cash - General Operating Fund 5,794,503      -               5,794,503      8,842,803     -              8,842,803   

Cash - Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 374,058         -               374,058         3,055,717     -              3,055,717   

Cash - Capital Asset Reserve -                 892,645       892,645         -               2,769,620   2,769,620   

Investment - Operating Reserve (notes 1, 2 and 5) 3,108,796      -               3,108,796      300,000        -              300,000      

Investment - General Operating (notes 1 and 2) 4,008,521      -               4,008,521      -               -              -              

Investment - Capital Asset Reserve (note 2) -                 4,373,320    4,373,320      -               275,167      275,167      

Accounts receivable 829,540         54,255         883,795         626,613        -              626,613      

Investment - Capital Improvement Fund (note 2) -                 53,034         53,034           -               59,610        59,610        

14,115,418    5,373,254    19,488,672    12,825,133   3,104,397   15,929,530  

LONG-TERM

Real estate, equipment and vehicles (note 3)

Cost -                 25,678,137  25,678,137    -               24,983,673  24,983,673  

Accumulated amortization -                 10,026,961  10,026,961    -               9,204,150   9,204,150   

-                 15,651,176  15,651,176    -               15,779,523  15,779,523  

$14,115,418 $21,024,430 $35,139,848 $12,825,133 $18,883,920 $31,709,053 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT

Accounts payable 727,927         -               727,927         373,079        -              373,079      

Deferred income (note 6) 9,046,510      -               9,046,510      8,221,934     -              8,221,934   

Current portion of long-term debt (note 4) -                 2,897,771    2,897,771      -               3,218,474   3,218,474   

9,774,437      2,897,771    12,672,208    8,595,013     3,218,474   11,813,487  

LONG-TERM (note 4) -                 3,923,377    3,923,377      -               4,070,613   4,070,613   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,774,437      6,821,148    16,595,585    8,595,013     7,289,087   15,884,100  

NET ASSETS

OPERATING FUND (page 4) 

Unrestricted 799,696         -               799,696         874,403        -              874,403      

Internally Restricted

Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 3,541,285      -               3,541,285      3,355,717     -              3,355,717   

CAPITAL FUND (page 4)

Internally restricted

Capital Asset Reserve (note 1) -                 5,373,254    5,373,254      -               3,104,397   3,104,397   

Investment in Property, Equipment and Vehicles -                 8,830,028    8,830,028      -               8,490,436   8,490,436   

4,340,981      14,203,282  18,544,263    4,230,120     11,594,833  15,824,953  

$14,115,418 $21,024,430 $35,139,848 $12,825,133 $18,883,920 $31,709,053 
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

____________ 2023 ____________ ___________ 2022 __________

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

Fund Fund Fund Fund

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES 3,711,584      (992,274)      2,719,310      3,899,562     (1,037,054)  2,862,508   

Interfund transfers

Operating Fund - budgeted capital funding (108,477)        108,477       -                (73,421)        73,421        -              

Thrift Shop forwardings for mortgage payments (497,610)        497,610       -                (471,703)      471,703      -              

Thrift RePurpose and Hazelglen costs -                 -               -                (561,119)      561,119      -              

Transfers from Operating Reserve (432,671)        432,671       -                -               -              -              

Thrift Shops - capital assets, shared occupancy (2,561,965)     2,561,965    -                (47,374)        47,374        -              

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 110,861         2,608,449    2,719,310      2,745,945     116,563      2,862,508   

OPENING NET ASSETS 4,230,120      11,594,833  15,824,953    1,484,175     11,478,270  12,962,445  

CLOSING NET ASSETS $4,340,981 $14,203,282 $18,544,263 $4,230,120 $11,594,833 15,824,953 

REPRESENTED BY:

Unrestricted:

Thrift Shops (page 14) 1,055,053      -               1,055,053      1,171,980     -              1,171,980   

Alumni Loan Fund 3,635             -               3,635             3,580           -              3,580          

General Operations (258,992)        -               (258,992)        (301,157)      -              (301,157)     

Investment in Property, Equipment and Vehicles -                 8,830,028    8,830,028      -               8,490,436   8,490,436   

799,696         8,830,028    9,629,724      874,403        8,490,436   9,364,839   

Internally Restricted:

Operating Reserve (note 5) 3,541,285      -               3,541,285      3,355,717     -              3,355,717   

Capital Asset Reserve

50 Kent Capital Maintenance -                 1,050,849    1,050,849      -               1,549,491   1,549,491   

Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replacement -                 644,163       644,163         -               388,156      388,156      

Thrift Shop Capital Expansion -                 3,678,242    3,678,242      -               1,166,750   1,166,750   

3,541,285      5,373,254    8,914,539      3,355,717     3,104,397   6,460,114   

$4,340,981 $14,203,282 $18,544,263 $4,230,120 $11,594,833 $15,824,953 
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - OPERATING FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

INCOME 2023 2022

Donations

General fund 4,911,772    4,959,232     

Designated for forwarding 6,835,321    6,242,322     

11,747,093  11,201,554   

Other

Thrift Shops (page 13) 10,327,505  8,097,447     

Operating Reserve (note 5) 2,218,441    2,828,783     

Relief Sales 420,870       284,409        

Interest income 187,786       40,954          

     13,154,602  11,251,593   

Direct Support for Ontario Programs

Designated donations 3,237,373    1,204,789     

Grants and other income (note 6) 686,815       1,472,108     

     3,924,188    2,676,897     

TOTAL INCOME 28,825,883  25,130,044   

FORWARDED TO MCC (CANADA)

Designated donations 6,835,321    6,242,322     

General donations 6,456,985    5,101,830     

13,292,306  11,344,152   

INCOME RETAINED FOR ONTARIO 15,533,577  13,785,892   

ONTARIO EXPENSES (page 14)

Programs 4,202,117    3,182,365     

Fundraising Coordination 974,097       723,223        

Fundraising Projects 60,426         70,684          

General administration and board 991,411       934,177        

Thrift Shops 5,593,942    4,975,881     

11,821,993  9,886,330     

EXCESS OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES $3,711,584 $3,899,562
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - CAPITAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

2023 2022

INCOME

Donations 157,478 31,000 

Investment income 96,987 30,792 

Rent and Capital Asset Reserve contributions 272,981 262,396 

527,446 324,188 

EXPENSES

Amortization of property and equipment costs:

Programs and administration:

   Equipment 72,046 78,539 

   Vehicles 7,677 10,968 

   Buildings 369,208 388,640 

448,931 478,147 

Thrift Shops:

   Equipment 66,029 61,422 

   Vehicles 1,163 1,662 

   Leasehold improvements 73,964 92,455 

   Buildings 232,724 231,143 

373,880 386,682 

Total Amortization 822,811 864,829 

Property tax reassessment 452,661 0 

Mortgage interest 244,248 252,816 

Write off Thrift Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs (note 9), and other expenses 0 243,597 

1,519,720 1,361,242 

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES ($992,274) ($1,037,054)DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

____________ 2023 ____________ ___________ 2022 __________

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

SOURCES (USES) OF CASH: Fund Fund Fund Fund

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess of income over expenses for the year 3,711,584      (992,274)      2,719,310      3,899,562     (1,037,054)  2,862,508 

Items not affecting cash flows:

Amortization - capital assets - 822,811 822,811         - 864,829 864,829      

Write off Thrift Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs - - - - 243,597 243,597      

3,711,584      (169,463)      3,542,121      3,899,562     71,372        3,970,934 

Change in current assets and liabilities:

Investments (6,817,317)     (4,098,153)   (10,915,470)   - (6,850) (6,850)         

Accounts receivable (202,927)        (54,255)        (257,182)        539,150        - 539,150 

Mortgage receivable - 6,576 6,576 - 14,440 14,440 

Accounts payable 354,848         - 354,848 141,265        - 141,265 

Deferred income 824,576         - 824,576 1,909,214     - 1,909,214

(2,129,236)     (4,315,295)   (6,444,531)     6,489,191     78,962        6,568,153 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to buildings, equipment and vehicles - (694,464) (694,464)        - (92,149) (92,149)       

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term debt repaid - (467,939) (467,939)        - (831,627) (831,627)     

Interfund transfers (3,600,723)     3,600,723 - (1,153,617) 1,153,617 - 

(3,600,723)     3,132,784    (467,939)        (1,153,617)   321,990      (831,627)     

CHANGE IN CASH FOR THE YEAR (5,729,959)     (1,876,975)   (7,606,934)     5,335,574     308,803      5,644,377 

CASH ON HAND - beginning of the year 11,898,520    2,769,620    14,668,140    6,562,946     2,460,817 9,023,763 

CASH ON HAND - end of the year 6,168,561      892,645       7,061,206      11,898,520   2,769,620 14,668,140  

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash - General Operating Fund 5,794,503      - 5,794,503 8,842,803     - 8,842,803

Cash - Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 374,058         - 374,058 3,055,717     - 3,055,717

Cash - Capital Asset Reserve - 892,645 892,645 - 2,769,620 2,769,620

$6,168,561 $892,645 $7,061,206 $11,898,520 $2,769,620 $14,668,140 
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2023

PURPOSE

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Operating Fund reflects the assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to all ongoing programs of MCCO. The

Operating Reserve is a pool of funding contained within the Operating Fund which is used to stabilize the often fluctuating

cash flows available for Operating Fund expenditures. All undesignated bequests are deposited into the Operating Reserve.

Accumulated bequests and interest are transferred to the Operating Fund bank account monthly based on a formula which

restricts minimum and maximum balances in net assets available for operations. The Capital Fund reflects MCCO's net

Investment in Capital Assets, plus the net assets restricted by donors or the Board in the Capital Asset Reserve. The Capital

Asset Reserve has three components - 50 Kent Capital Maintenance, which is a reserve of assets designed to enable

maintenance of MCCO's head office, Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replacement, which is a reserve of assets designed to

enable the replacement of equipment and vehicles, and Thrift Shop Capital Expansion, which is a reserve of funds which are

advanced to Thrift Shops to enable expansion. The 50 Kent Capital Maintenance portion of the reserve receives rent from

tenants, capital donations, capital loans, and transfers from Thrift Shops, and disburses funds on mortgage payments and

maintenance of the head office. The Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replaement portion of the reserve receives annual

budgeted allocations from the Operating Fund for equipment and vehicle replacement. The Thrift Shop Capital Expansion

portion of the reserve receives donations, loans and transfers from Thrift Shops, which are used to enable capital expansion

at Thrift Shops.

Income Recognition - MCCO uses the restricted fund method of accounting, whereby restricted (designated) contributions to

the Capital Fund, are reflected as income when received or receivable, and the accumulated amount of such contributions,

net of respective expenditures, is reflected as restricted net assets in the appropriate restricted fund (the Capital Fund) on the

statement of financial position until the funds are spent as designated.

Mennonite Central Committee (MCC), a worldwide ministry of Anabaptist churches, shares God's love and

compassion for all in the name Christ by responding to basic human needs and working for peace and justice.

Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario), (MCCO) engages in a number of programs which are consistent with MCC'S

ministry. MCCO is incorporated in Ontario, without share capital, is a registered charity, and as such does not pay

income tax.

MCCO receives material-in-kind contributions from supporters which are forwarded to communities in need. MCCO assigns

values to these in-kind contributions based on conservative estimates of their market values, and reflects these contributions

as contributions designated for forwarding. MCCO also receives many hours of service from its many volunteers. Because it

is impractical to determine a fair value for these services, their value is not reflected in these financial statements.

All Operating Fund receipts which are designated (restricted) by the donor for a specific purpose (such as government grants

and donations designated for programs) are reflected as deferred income on the statement of financial position until expended

as designated, whereupon the funds are reflected as income. Each year, MCCO enters into an agreement with MCC Canada

as to what portion of general donations will be retained for use for Ontario programs and overhead costs (the provincial

allotment). Program expenditures are funded in the following order - income generated by the program, grants restricted to the

program for the specific fiscal period, the provincial allotment, and then grants and donations which are designated for the

program but are not restrcted to the fiscal period. Undesignated receipts are reflected as income when received or receivable,

provided collection is reasonably assured and amounts reasonably estimable. When MCCO receives restricted contributions

which are conditional on MCCO obtaining funding from third parties in addition to the restricted contributions (matching

funding), expenses are funded first with matching funds, then with donor restricted funds. 

Fund Accounting - MCCO maintains its accounts in accordance with the principles of fund accounting, wherein resources for

various purposes are classified in accordance with activities or objectives as specified by the Board, management or donors.

Basis of presentation - These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-

profit Organizations.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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     Buildings -   5% on the declining balance

     Leasehold improvements - 20% on the declining balance

     Equipment - 20% on the declining balance

     Vehicles - 30% on the declining balance

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2023 2022

Operating Fund Capital Fund Total Total

Financial assets reflected at fair value

Balanced Pool Funds -              276,122      276,122       275,167       

Operating Reserve - Fixed Income Fund 300,000      -              300,000       300,000       

Financial assets reflected at amortized cost

Guaranteed investment certificates bearing interest between 2.8%

  and 5.15%, maturing between May 2023 and January 2025

          - Operating Reserve 2,808,796   -              2,808,796    -               

3,108,796   276,122      3,384,918    575,167       

          - General Operating Fund and Capital Fund 4,008,521   4,097,198   8,105,719    -               

7,117,317   4,373,320   11,490,637  575,167       

Mortgage receivable - Erie St. Leamington, 3%, quarterly

   payments of $10,000 principal plus interest, due Sept. 2023 -              53,034        53,034         59,610         

7,117,317   4,426,354   11,543,671  634,777       

Cash and accounts receivable 6,998,101   946,900      7,945,001    15,294,753  

$14,115,418 $5,373,254 $19,488,672 $15,929,530 

Financial Instruments - A financial instrument is a contract that creates a financial asset for one entity and a financial liability

or equity instrument of another. Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for non-arm’s length

transactions, if any. The organization subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost,

except for investments in equity instruments with quoted fair values in an active market, if any, which are measured at fair

value. Changes in fair value are recognized in net income. Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when

there are indicators of impairment. The amount of any write-down is recognized on the statement of operations and changes

in net assets. Any previously recognized impairment losses may be reversed and reflected in income to the extent of

improvement, provided they are no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the

impairment not been recognized previously.

As in the prior year, management believes the organization does face some interest rate risk, in that, significant increases in

market interest rates could significantly increase interest costs relating to its mortgages and loans payable, upon renewal of

these obligations. As in the prior year, management believes it does not face any significant market, credit, currency or

liquidity risk with respect to its remaining financial instruments.

Real estate, equipment and vehicles - are reflected at cost, and amortized at the following annual rates:

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-

profit Organizations sometimes requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In particular, MCCO includes in income (Donations designated

for forwarding), the estimated fair value of donated materials included in material aid shipments made during the year

($481,849 and $305,789 in the current and prior years respectively). These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjusted

proactively as they become necessary. An identical amount is included in expenses for the year as Forwarded to MCC

(Canada). Actual fair values could differ from those estimated. In addition, amortization of property and equipment requires

estimates and assumptions related to the useful life of the related assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses to Programs - MCCO allocates certain general administrative expenses, such as

telephone and internet charges, office supplies, building maintenance, building and equipment amortization, building

insurance, software, computer support and receptionist's payroll costs, to its departments. These expenses are allocated to

departments based on the number of full-time-equivalent employees working directly in each department.DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2023

3. REAL ESTATE, EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES 2023 2022

Net Book Net Book

Cost Amortization Value Value

 Buildings

Head office and partner facility - Kitchener - Kent Ave. 11,590,368 4,612,331   6,978,037    7,345,302    

Timmins - Pine St. S. 41,955        5,037          36,918         38,860         

Thrift Shops: Elmira - Church St. 1,114,641   369,087      745,554       245,423       

Leamington - Mill St. 1,677,720   533,771      1,143,949    1,204,157    

New Hamburg - Heritage Dr. 2,276,156   1,114,907   1,161,249    1,222,367    

St. Catharines - Grantham Ave 632,991      313,600      319,391       336,201       

Stouffville - Ringwood Dr. 2,036,595   722,221      1,314,374    1,383,552    

19,370,426 7,670,954   11,699,472  11,775,862  

 Land

Head office and partner facility - Kitchener - Kent Ave. 1,545,165   -              1,545,165    1,545,165    

Timmins - Pine St. S. 10,000        -              10,000         10,000         

Thrift Shops: Elmira - Church St. 147,275      -              147,275       147,275       

Leamington - Mill St. 254,000      -              254,000       254,000       

New Hamburg - Heritage Dr. 321,389      -              321,389       321,389       

St. Catharines - Grantham Ave 155,625      -              155,625       155,625       

Stouffville - Ringwood Dr. 565,000      -              565,000       565,000       

2,998,454   -              2,998,454    2,998,454    

 Leasehold Improvements 802,484      506,629      295,855       369,819       

 Total Real Estate 23,171,364 8,177,583   14,993,781  15,144,135  

 Equipment 2,264,452   1,627,689   636,763       605,916       

 Vehicles 242,321      221,689      20,632         29,472         

$25,678,137 $10,026,961 $15,651,176 $15,779,523

4.

2023 2022

50 Kent Ave, Kitchener, ON

-               486,167       

931,220       1,004,195    

1,020,430    1,081,758    

1,425,000    1,425,000    

continued on the next page

Promissory note payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.55% interest, requiring monthly principal

and interest monthly payments of $8,206, due February 2026, secured by a $6,000,000 first

mortgage on the real estate at 50 Kent Ave., held jointly by Abundance Canada and Kindred

Credit Union.

Mortgage payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.65% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $9,013, due July 2026, secured by a $571,000 first mortgage on 41

Heritage Dr., New Hamburg, ON, a $429,000 first mortgage on 58 Mill St., Leamington, ON

$6,000,000 first mortgage on the real estate at 50 Kent Ave. held jointly by Abundance

Canada and Kindred Credit Union.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Mortgage payable - Abundance Canada - 3.45% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $13,911, due July 2022, secured by a $6,000,000 first mortgage on the

real estate at 50 Kent Ave. held jointly by Abundance Canada and Kindred Credit Union.

Mortgage payable - Mennonite Conference of Eastern Canada - 5.5% interest, requiring

monthly payments of interest only, due October 2023, secured by a $1,425,000 third

mortgage on the real estate at 50 Kent Ave.

DRAFT
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4. 2023 2022

50 Kent Ave, Kitchener, ON (continued)

934,000       1,084,000    

Leamington Thrift Shop

703,803       747,483       

Stouffville Thrift Shop

1,161,037    1,210,484    

250,000       250,000       

Kitchener 50 Kent

395,658       -               

6,821,148    7,289,087    

Current portion 2,897,771    3,218,474    

$3,923,377 $4,070,613 

Projected repayment of long-term debt:

Year 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Total

Amount 2,897,771 299,114      2,607,341  1,016,922   -              6,821,148    

5. OPERATING RESERVE

2023 2022

Income

   Donations by bequest 1,603,599    1,925,615    

   Interest 58,431         18,953         

   MCC Canada recoveries (deficit coverage) 556,411       884,215       

Total income for the year (page 5) 2,218,441    2,828,783    

Opening net assets 3,355,717    2,454,825    

   Transfers to Capital Asset Rerserve (432,671)      -               

   Transfer from (to) General Operations (1,600,202)   (1,927,891)   

Closing net assets (page 3) $3,541,285 $3,355,717 

Represented by;

   Cash (page 3) 374,058       3,055,717    

   Accrued interest receivable 58,431         -               

   Investment (page 3) 3,108,796    300,000       

$3,541,285 $3,355,717 

Raising Hope Construction Loans - promissory notes, unsecured, payments of interest

between 0% and 2.5% annually, principal of due on demand or in the forthcoming year.

Mortgage payable - Abundance Canada - Stouffville Thrift Shop - 6.65% interest, requiring

monthly principal and interest payments of $9,456, due March 31, 2026, secured by a first

charge on real estate at 33 Ringroad Drive., Stouffville

Fixed rate promissory note - Kindred Credit Union - 4.25% interest, requiring monthly

principal and interest payments of $5,087, due Oct 2026, secured by all shares, and deposits

on account at the Credit Union.

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Demand note payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.9% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $5,986, due July 2025, secured by a $1,000,000 first mortgage on the

real estate at 62 Mill St. Leamington and 41 Heritage Dr., New Hamburg.

Private loans  - promissory notes, unsecured, interest 0% to 2%, principal due on demand

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2023

6. DEFERRED INCOME, GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND OTHER INCOME

Balance Income Income Balance

March 31 Received Expended March 31

2022 (Recognized) 2023

Government grants:

  Canada Employment Wage Subsidy -              20,194        20,194         -               

  Correctional Services Canada - Community Integration 14,155        71,208        59,417         25,946         

  Region of Waterloo - Circle of Friends and People's Action 19,708        170,613      67,635         122,686       

33,863        262,015      147,246       148,632       

Other Grants 105,389      27,500        39,579         93,310         

Total Government and Other Grants 139,252      289,515      186,825       241,942       

Other Income -              499,990      499,990       -               

Total Grants and Other Income (page 5) 139,252      789,505      686,815       241,942       

Designated donations and other income

  Ontario Programs

      - Refugee Family Support (note 8) 2,614,016   1,414,370   1,106,446    2,921,940    

      - Program and Operational Support 2,240,678   806,851      906,895       2,140,634    

      - Other Refugee programs 152,328      129,213      159,517       122,024       

  Meat Canning 369,049      12,646        21,562         360,133       

  MCC Canada 989,394      415,510      249,868       1,155,036    

  Other Programs 1,717,217   1,180,669   793,085       2,104,801    

8,082,682   3,959,259   3,237,373    8,804,568    

Total Deferred Income (page 3) $8,221,934 $4,748,764 $3,924,188 $9,046,510 

7. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES

Fiscal Year Annual base rent

2024 138,862      

2025 139,904      

2026 58,730        

8. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

MCCO has a lease commitment with respect to a premises which commenced July 1, 2020 and expires August 31, 2025.

The lease requires annual base rent payments of $135,784, increasing by the Consumer Price Index annually, plus common

costs related to the property.  Projected annual base rent payments are as follows:

MCCO has entered into lease agreements with a number of tenants at its head office and partner facility which generate an

annual base rental income of approximately $245,000. All leases mature in 2023. New leases are currently being negotiated.

In addition to base rent, tenants typically pay a pro rata share of common costs, plus contribute to a capital reserve which is

intended to accumulate funds to finance future significant capital costs necessary for continued operation of the building.

MCC Ontario has partnered with various church and community groups to assist with the sponsorship and resettlement of

certain refugee families in Ontario. These groups have placed on deposit with MCC Ontario the necessary funds to sponsor

and support these refugee families for the required period of time. Management believes it has sufficient designated funds on

hand and volunteer group support to meet its commitment to IRCC.  

MCC Canada (MCCC) has signed a Private Sponsorship of Refugees (PSR) Agreement with Immigration Refugee and

Citizenship Canada (IRCC), formerly the Department of Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC), to provide financial,

human resources and moral support to a certain number of refugees sponsored under the PSR program. MCCC’s

responsibilities under this agreement were assigned to the various Canadian MCCs.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

THRIFT SHOPS 

INCOME, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET OPERATING ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

2023 2022

INCOME

Sales of donated goods 9,876,278     7,348,833    

Canada Employment Wage Subsidy and other income 83,227         568,614       

Forwardings from Associate Thrift Shops 368,000        180,000       

10,327,505   8,097,447    

EXPENSES

Personnel 2,809,669     3,049,199    

Facility costs 532,003        624,227       

Other operating costs 2,252,270     1,302,455    

5,593,942     4,975,881    

NET INCOME 4,733,563     3,121,566    

Forwarded to MCCO Operating Fund

MCCO shops (4,932,145)   (3,555,403)   

Associate shops (368,000)      (180,000)      

Administrative and rePurpose Centre expenses recovered from forwardings: 1,084,420     754,037       

NET INCOME RETAINED BY OWNED SHOPS 517,838        140,200       

OPENING NET OPERATING ASSETS - OWNED THRIFT SHOPS 1,171,980     (682,772)      

Capital assets purchased and Maintenance Reserve contributions, mortgage payments (634,765)      (47,374)        

Transfer from Capital Fund - Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs -               1,761,926    

CLOSING NET OPERATING ASSETS - OWNED THRIFT SHOPS (page 4) $1,055,053 $1,171,980 

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash 1,179,899     1,353,856    

Accounts receivable 31,884         48,299         

Accounts payable (156,730)      (230,175)      

Net Assets (deficit) $1,055,053 $1,171,980 DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

ONTARIO EXPENSES -  PROGRAMS, FUNDRAISING AND ADMINISTRATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2022

Administrative 2023 2022

Charges

PROGRAMS

Justice & Peacebuilding

Peacebuilding and Conflict Transformation 15,966         421,660       218,842       

Restorative Justice 23,561         468,544       544,258       

39,527         890,204       763,100       

Diaster Relief

Humanitarian Relief & Disaster Recovery 42,531         672,254       444,422       

Sustainable Community Development

Education 428              6,908           7,246           

Food Security and Sustainable Livelihoods 46,338         644,503       840,411       

Migration and Resettlement 43,303         1,988,248    1,127,186    

90,069         2,639,659    1,974,843    

Total Programs (page 5) 172,127       4,202,117    3,182,365    

FUNDRAISING COORDINATION

Donor Relations 45,948         950,597       644,437       

Relief Sales and Thrift Shops 137              23,500         78,786         

Total Fundraising Coordination (page 5) 46,085         974,097       723,223       

FUNDRAISING PROJECTS

Relief Sales - donations forwarded 40,737         44,445         

Thrift Shops - donations forwarded 19,689         26,239         

Total Fundraising Projects (page 5) -               60,426         70,684         

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION AND BOARD

Administration 528,663       490,519       

Board, annual general meeting, audit 32,426         31,661         

Community Engagement 93,806         81,549         

Human Resources 331,822       302,961       

Physical Resources 162,900       173,486       

Regional Representatives 60,006         54,806         

1,209,623    1,134,982    

Recoveries: Administrative expenses charged to programs (note 1) (218,212)      (200,805)      

Total General Administration and Board (page 5) -               991,411       934,177       

THRIFT SHOP EXPENSES (pages 5 and 13) -               5,593,942    4,975,881    

TOTAL ONTARIO EXPENSES (page 5) $218,212 $11,821,993 $9,886,330 

DRAFT



2023-2024 MCC Ontario Slate of Board Officers & Directors 

Recommended Slate of Officers & Additional Board Representatives:

Role Name Conf. Term Name Conf. Term

Chair Lynn Rempel MCEC 2020-2023
Trisha 
Ashworth

MCEC 2023-2026 √

Vice-Chair
Trisha 
Ashworth

MCEC 2022-2025
Matthew 
Miles

BIC 2023-2026 √

Secretary Irene Gibbins BIC 2022-2025 Irene Gibbins BIC 2022-2025 √

Treasurer Eugene Reesor MCEC 2021-2024
Eugene 
Reesor

MCEC 2021-2024 √

Diversity 
Officer

Denis Wall MB 2022-2025 Denis Wall MB 2022-2025 √

Additional
Jean de Dieu 
Basabose

MB 2020-2023
Jean de Dieu 
Basabose

MB 2023-2026 √

Additional John Abraham 2021-2024 John Abraham 2021-2024 √

Additional Randy Lepp MCEC 2022-2025 Nathan Dirks 2021-2024 √

Conference Term Term

2020-2023

2022-2025 2022-2025 √
EMC 2023-2026 √

2021-2024 2021-2024 √
2021-2024 2021-2024 √

2022-2025 √
MB 2021-2024

Term Term

annual annual

2020-2023 2023-2026

2019-2023 2023-2026

MCEC

BIC

On-going 2nd term 
for vote

1st term 
vote

2nd term 
vote

On-going
2022-2023 

MCC Ontario Board
2023-2024 

Recommended Slate

Recommended Slate of Anabaptist Conference Representatives:

Bruce Yoder

Name

Keith Regehr

1st term 
for vote

2022-2023 
MCC Ontario Board

2023-2024 
Recommended Slate

Name

Keith Regehr

Jean Higginson

2022-2023 
Appointed Representatives

2023-2024 
Appointed Representatives

Nathan Dirks

Matthew Miles

Randy Lepp

Jean Higginson

Abe Wall

Bruce Yoder

Name

Ruth Charette

Trisha Ashworth

Randy Lepp

MCC Canada Board

Student rep

MCC Canada Delegate Body

Role
Name

Ruth Charette

Lynn Rempel

Matt Miles

Legend:  
BIC = Be In Christ  
EMC = Evangelical Mennonite Conference  
EMMC = Evangelical Mennonite Mission Conference 
MB = Mennonite Brethren  
MCEC = Mennonite Church Eastern Canada 



2023 New Director Candidates 

 
Abe Wall: 
Abe was born in Durango, Mexico. He and his wife currently attend Straffordville Evangelical Mission 
Church, where he is a member. He currently serves on their finance committee.  
 
Abe is the Director of Social Enterprise at Mennonite Community Services of Southern Ontario (MCS). 
MCS is a social arm of a group of Anabaptist churches in southern Ontario. Their mission is, “to provide 
leadership for mutual inclusion of our communities by facilitating, advocating and promoting 
integration of newcomers.“ Previous to this, Abe was self-employed.  
 
Abe is motivated to serve on MCC Ontario’s Board “to gain a broader perspective and understanding 
that reaches beyond my local community.”  
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MCC ONTARIO 
YEAR-END DASHBOARD REPORT 
Overall Summary 
Over this past fiscal year, MCC has steadily kept a course that is returning us to pre-pandemic levels of 
activity. For the first time since the launch of this strategic plan, Thrift shops operated without 
pandemic-related restrictions and held public gatherings to celebrate MCC Thrift’s 50th anniversary. As 
the borders continued to open, sponsorship groups welcomed long-awaited newcomers to Canada. 
Despite economic uncertainty, donors remained faithful and gave generously. A return to in-person 
events found our committed constituency eager to attend. We are grateful.  

While we have regained a margin of predictability in our activities, the creativity and agility we honed 
during the pandemic continue to be essential in our work. Our challenge continues: to remain effective 
and relevant within a rapidly evolving world that leaves many on the margins. This report is a testament 
to our commitment to showing God’s love for all as we pursue relief, development and peace in the 
name of Christ.  

Practising Self-Compassion through Faith and Art 

MCC Restorative Justice Program Associate Carol O’Neil began connecting with Mary* when she was 
incarcerated at Grand Valley Institution for Women. When Mary was released, she wanted to continue 
to learn coping skills, so Carol started meeting with Mary weekly and working on self-compassion 
through faith and art. 

Mary was doing quite well. She started a job as a cashier at a local store and was connecting with her 
community. Mary worked for about three weeks when someone recognized her in the lineup and 
started yelling “This store hires criminals.” Devastated, Mary walked away from the cash register. Her 
manager approached and asked her to leave. 

Mary immediately reached out to Carol. They discussed the tools and skills she had learned and which 
ones to use now. Mary shared that one of the art pieces she studied was particularly impactful. It was a 
picture of Jesus sitting in the desert, gently holding a scorpion in his hands. Mary said, “This picture 
comforts me and gives me the feeling of Jesus holding me in his hands.” 

“Mary's incredible ability to combine her newly learned skills and tools combined with her faith and use 
them to move forward inspires and encourages me,” said Carol.  

Mary had learned to sew while incarcerated and has since found a position as a seamstress. She loves 
this new job and continues to use her newly-found coping skills to move forward with resiliency and 
strength. 

*name changed to protect identity

    2022-2023 
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MCC Ontario Strategic Plan – Year-End Dashboard Report – User Guide 
Welcome to Year 3 of MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan Year-End Dashboard Report! The user guide 
below is intended to help inform your use of the information on the following pages. 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to document and track MCC Ontario’s progress toward 
implementing its five-year 2020-2025 Strategic Plan. Referring to the Strategic Plan (Appendix 3) is 
important as it lays out the various operational priorities and key performance indicators that the 
organization committed itself to in its planning process. The purpose of MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan is 
to identify strategic directions over five years that will equip us to advance our mission. This plan is 
reviewed annually to ensure that it remains strategic given changing circumstances. 

Commitment to Learning and Adjusting: The Strategic Plan and Dashboard are tools to help 
MCC Ontario leadership articulate, track and document where it wants to go and how it plans to get 
there. As we go through the five years of the plan, we will learn about what is working and what is not, 
and we will need to adjust along the way. The intention for the data and information is to help us make 
meaning of the information coming forward and assess what we are learning and whether our 
approaches, strategies and priorities need to be adjusted. We expect that this document will encourage 
questions, discernment, dialogue and reflection – at various levels of the organization. 

Timelines: Our reporting cycle is aligned with our fiscal year: April 1 to March 31. This report is 
completed twice a year. In the fall, the Mid-Year Dashboard Report is compiled in a tentative manner to 
assess initial progress against directions, operational priorities and KPIs. In April and May of each year, 
a more comprehensive year-end report is gathered, including all KPI data and high-level analysis.  

Dashboard Assessment Page: On page 5 there is a high-level snapshot assessment of the 
organization’s progress in implementing its Strategic Directions. This assessment includes information 
on the key performance indicator (KPI) and a rating on progress to date.  

The four-point rating scale is defined as: 

1 Currently off track to meet operational priorities and plans laid out; likely 
adjustments needed 

2 Needs attention and adjustments 
3 On track given plans and expectations 
4 Exceeding expectations, and adjustments may be needed 

Comments and rationale for how an area has been rated can be found in the details of the related 
strategic direction page. 

Staff and Volunteer Capacity Building: Throughout MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan, there is 
reference to building staff and volunteer capacity to help the organization meet its strategic directions. A 
biannual survey will be conducted of staff and volunteers to track progress in these various areas. A 
summary of this year’s survey findings can be found on page 13. 
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Dashboard Assessment 

Ratings 
Five Year Strategic Directions Year 3 KPI Progress YR 1 YR 2 YR 3 

1: Increase the capacity of the church 
and other partners as they support 
and equip people with vulnerabilities, 
especially people who have been 
uprooted and displaced. 

To increase the capacity of churches 
and other partners to support and equip 
people with vulnerabilities, 95 
engagement/education activities were 
implemented.  

3 3.5 4 

1 B: Increase the capacity of MCC 
Ontario staff and volunteers to 
support p e o p l e  w i t h  
vulnerabilities, especially those 
uprooted and displaced people in 
Ontario. 

To better support people with 
vulnerabilities and who have been 
displaced, 63% of staff and 2% of 
volunteers were trained. 20% of all 
people served were vulnerable. 

2 3 3 

2: Increase responsive engagement 
across the full-range of Anabaptist 
churches and beyond, with an 
increased focus on audience-based 
communications, fundraising and 
recruitment efforts with a new 
generation. 

To increase connections with younger 
potential donors, five initiatives were 
developed and implemented. 66% of 
churches increased their engagement 
scores.  

3 3 3 

3: Increase peacebuilding as a 
key component in all our relief 
and development work and 
expand our efforts for justice and 
peace. 

To address systemic barriers to peace 
and justice, 124 collaborative 
peacebuilding activities were 
implemented and attended by 2,524 
participants. 

3 3 3.5 

3 B: Increase the capacity of MCC 
Ontario staff and volunteers to 
foster social inclusion, belonging 
and community. 

To manage the training demand over 
five years, we expect these metrics to 
vary and we know additional focus on 
training volunteers is a next step.  

2 3 3 

4: Design and assess MCC’s program 
and operations in light of our 
commitment to care for God’s creation 
and accompany marginalized 
communities harmed by climate 
change. 

To manage this work that is outside our 
expertise, we have shifted and will be 
aligning more with MCC Canada’s 
climate change efforts. 1 1 2 

5: Expand the reach and impact of Thrift 
Shops to increase revenue raised and 
promote the mission of MCC. 

To implement a marketing strategy, 
additional FTE was secured; adjusting 
shop layouts increased revenue 
potential; all shops reached revenue 
milestones.  

 

1 2 3.5 

6: Ensure the long-term sustainability of 
MCC Ontario as we work within and seek 
to strengthen the broader MCC mission 
and structure. 

To recognize how and when 
collaboration across MCC-entities can 
maximize our shared outcomes, 
updated Covenants have been signed 
by the Canadian system and binational 
entities.  

2 3 3 

*Rating: 1 = off track 2 = needs attention 3 = on track 4 = exceeding expectations
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MCC Ontario Year-End Dashboard Report – 
Learning and Analysis 
Year 3 

Over the past fiscal year, we have moved into the other side of the pandemic, out of crisis response to finding 
our way in a new normal that hasn’t come to be quite yet. The pandemic was a huge disrupter, upending our 
ability to plan or predict outcomes and impact. We entered year three of our strategic plan still confident in its 
ability to provide direction even as we continued to adapt to changing circumstances. As we reflect on the 
strong outcomes of this year, MCC Ontario has recovered, regained stability, reconnected. At the same time, 
we need to ensure we are able to continue to deliver impact and meet our mission as the consequences of 
the pandemic continue to disrupt our world. This uncertainty and flux appear to be part of our new normal for 
the anticipatable future. The section below outlines areas we need to prioritize as informed by our learning 
and analysis of the results from the past three years.  

As our constituency members face 
challenges of their own in this post-
pandemic world, MCCO needs to revisit the 
status quo to bring intentionality, mutuality 
and creativity to these relationships.  

• Our governing church conferences are in a
tumultuous and fragile state on their
continued journey to find their way and
relevance, particularly for youth and young
adults. Despite some mixed signals in our
analysis, they still seem to want to partner
with us. We need to be strategic about what
we bring to them to avoid the “firehose
approach” that overwhelms and discourages
action.

• Continuing to maintain MCC’s historic role of
bringing together Anabaptist churches with a
wide variety of theological and doctrinal
beliefs to work together on common
priorities is becoming more
challenging. Operationally, we need to look
for synergies and strengthen those
opportunities for collective action. However,
it also brings into question whether our
governing structure as an MCC system to
“hitch ourselves to the church,” as affirmed
in the New Wineskins agreement, will need
to be revisited.

• This has significant impact on MCC
Ontario’s ability to attract board members
who have the skill set and diversity that the
organization affirms.

We need to ensure we are equipped and 
ready to evolve in order to remain strong and 
able to meet our mission.  

• With increased collaboration across
departments, our strength and efficiency are
maximized. Opportunities to work outside of
our silos increase new opportunities for
synergy.

• Investment in our culture and values is
foundational, such as through diversity,
equity and inclusion training, core
competencies, etc.

• Strategic investment to reach our outcomes
breeds results and strengthens the impact of
our work. However, this growth creates
greater organizational complexity which in
turn requires maintenance.

• With the needs around us changing, we
need to reconsider whether our targets are
the right ones.

• We continue to seek consensus across the
system with various approaches toward
fundraising appeals.

Opportunities and risks as we move forward: 

• This report reflects equal parts strong
outcomes and high risk. While there are
deep roots, deep history, deep strength and
great outcomes, the context that we work
within is very fragile. Agility is required to
shift within it. These shifts raise questions
for the board, the system and operational
management to wrestle with.

• Our aging population and more retirees may
bring both risk and opportunity in terms of
volunteerism, staff, donors and program
needs.

• The adaptation and agility required of the
organization in the last few years also
provides an opportunity to reimagine what
we do and to develop creative
collaborations, synergies and efficiencies.
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Strategic Direction 1 
Increase the capacity of the church and other partners as they support and equip 
people with vulnerabilities, especially those uprooted and displaced. 

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Capacity-building training and events 
organized by MCC for churches and other 
partners 

88 103 95 

Churches/organizations welcoming newcomers 129 groups 136 groups 171 groups 
Individuals participating in educational activities 
related to root causes of migration, 
displacement and factors leading to vulnerability 

557 participants; 
13 activities 

1,068 participants; 
19 activities 

1,289 participants; 
22 activities 

Humanitarian responses for vulnerable 
populations in Ontario and globally 

5 
(2 global; 3 

domestic) 

10 
(8 global; 2 

domestic) 

14 
(12 global; 2 

domestic) 
OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3.5 4 

Activity Overview: 
• Mandatory training was introduced for groups

interested in named sponsorship of refugees to equip
them to complete an expression of interest (EOI) which
assesses the capacity of the sponsors and the
eligibility of the refugee case for sponsorship.

• An array of educational activities was offered by
programs to help supporters learn about migration and
resettlement, walking with people in poverty,
reintegration after incarceration and material
resources.

• Humanitarian Responses – Global: 3,775 relief kits,
4,328 comforters, 7,200 hygiene kits, 3,520 school kits,
1,050 dignity kits, 17,952 tubes of toothpaste, 120
sewing kits, 6 teacher kits; Indigenous Neighbours
Truth and Reconciliation: 201 comforters

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results: 
• The demand for named refugee sponsorship through

MCC Ontario exceeded the federally-allocated spaces
by 380% (570/150). Most applicants for sponsorship
now constitute non-church groups, many from other
faith backgrounds. This is both an opportunity and a
challenge, as we do our best to balance the desire to
make sponsorship accessible with the reality that there
are far more requests than available spaces.

• Food affordability is a massive issue that is continuing
to worsen. Despite these historic challenges,
Indigenous Nations and organizations continue to grow
their related efforts. This is an opportunity for MCC

Ontario to re-evaluate and explore how to most 
effectively partner with groups to support Indigenous 
food sovereignty. 

• The high cost of food as well as the ongoing
challenges with getting the meat canner across the
border has encouraged MCC Ontario to plan for a
stationary meat canner at MCC’s Heritage Drive
location in New Hamburg.

• Over the past three years, material resource internal
financial tracking has shifted significantly. Reporting is
more accurate as all supplies collected are also
processed in the same fiscal year.

• Inclusion and equity are shared priorities for the health,
education and social service sectors and MCC. By
incorporating these priorities into educational activities,
service providers working with Low German people
were motivated to attend and learn.

• This year there were no requests for crisis response in
Northern Ontario. Fewer disasters are welcome;
however, going forward we need to reach out and
assess whether there were missed opportunities.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• We are intentionally connecting with Indigenous

communities to re-establish relationships after staff
transitions.

• Synergies are being explored to foster quality
settlement and integration of refugee and Low German
newcomers.

“Working together, sharing resources helps us reach so much further than everyone reinventing the wheel.” 
– Participant at Low German Conference

https://mcccanada.ca/get-involved/canning
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Strategic Direction 1B 
Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario staff and volunteers to support people 
with vulnerabilities, especially those uprooted and displaced in Ontario. 

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Staff and volunteers trained to 
support people with vulnerabilities 

Staff: (33) 23% 
Volunteers: (55) 

5% 

Staff: (91) 72% 
Volunteers: (55) 

4% 

Staff: (89/142) 63% 
Volunteers: (28/1717) 

2% 
People with vulnerabilities (PV) 
supported through programs and 
percentage of total people served who 
are vulnerable 

771 (29%) (PV) 
Total: 2,701 

770 (20%) (PV) 
Total: 3,932 

925 (20%) (PV) 
Total: 4,738 

OVERALL KPI RATING 2 3 3 

Activity Overview: 
• This was the second full day of learning for all

staff related to Canada’s Truth and Reconciliation
Day. Resources were also shared with all
volunteers. 19 program staff and 11 volunteers
participated in trauma-informed training.

• A Thrift Orientation video was developed for
volunteers that highlights the work and impact of
MCC and its programming while also covering
volunteer-shop commitment, communication and
culture.

• Circle of Friends introduced “Our Circle Story” as
a way for participants, volunteers and staff to
reflect together on the reciprocal impact of the
one-year Circle experience.

• Circles of Support and Accountability (CoSA)
implemented a new needs and strengths
assessment tool which helps staff know how to
effectively support participants in their
reintegration journey.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results: 
• Overall, the number of people with vulnerabilities

supported through programs is stable – except for
the number of refugee arrivals, given that borders
are open. 164 more newcomers were supported
in their first year of sponsorship compared to the
previous year.

• We continue to identify how to strategically
increase the capacity of volunteers to support
people with vulnerabilities.

• Circle of Friends completed a transportation
survey with participants to determine how to best

support participants with getting to programs post 
lockdowns.  

• We learned that keeping logistics simple
encourages participation. Participants stated that
50 Kent is known and easily accessible which
eliminates concerns about mobility limitations and
learning bus routes.

• Across the province there is an ever-increasing
concern about chronic homelessness and housing
support – especially for people with high acuity.
Circle of Friends programming is working to be
attentive to people with high acuity and to
continue to be relevant to the Region of
Waterloo’s priorities.

• Staff continue to learn about the complexities and
power dynamics involved in providing access to
clean drinking water in First Nations. There is a
disconnect between the bureaucracy of policy
solutions and the spirituality of tradition and
ceremony centred on water. However, our
supporters and partners continue to engage with
us to find solutions.

• The number of younger Indigenous artisans
continues to increase. Continued conversation is
needed to identify how to engage younger
artisans in the Niska program.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• Continue to look for ways to reduce the burden on

Migration and Resettlement program staff who
have to turn away so many people who
desperately want to sponsor family members and
have few option

“I have gained an appreciation for a population that I had previously misunderstood.” 
– CoSA Volunteer

https://vimeo.com/812443436/2f49dc2def
https://niskaartisans.ca/
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Strategic Direction 2 
Increase responsive engagement across the full range of Anabaptist churches 
and beyond, with an increased focus on audience-based communications, 
fundraising and recruitment efforts with a new generation.  

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
# of initiatives developed and implemented 
that increase connections with younger 
potential donors 

Data unavailable 4 5 

% of churches with an increase in 
engagement1 score 

Baseline data 
collected 

49% 66% 

# of new volunteers under 30 years old 23 (ages 14-17) 
49 (ages 18-30) 

137 (ages 14-17) 
101 (ages 18-30) 

215 (ages 14-
17) 
81 (ages 18-30) 

# of current volunteers under 30 years old 48 (ages 14-17) 
256 (18-30) 

171 (14-17) 
249 (18-30) 

96 (14-17) 
70 (18-30) 

% of current staff under 30 years old 15% 15% 14% 
# of new and total supporting2 churches 4 new; 113 total 16 new; 142 total 0 new; 218 total 
# of congregations engaged from each Anabaptist 
conference  

Baseline data 
collected 

106 total 
(refer to Appendix 
1) 

200 total 

# of engaged congregations outside of Anabaptist 
conferences (and beyond) 36 111 
OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3 3 

 Activity Overview: 
• MCC Canada’s launch of downloadable church

resources has improved responding and tracking
requests.

• The next level of church engagement is being
pursued, focusing on relationship building with church
leaders and recognizing areas of partnership.

• Conrad Grebel University College invited MCC 
Ontario to guest lecture on Story-telling and 
Advocacy to Master of Peace and Conflict Studies 
students. Two Map the System research projects 
were developed as students identified what 
contributes to the pipeline to prison.

• Youth engagement activities (MCC-themed 
scavenger hunt, Kid Zone) for the New Hamburg 
Relief Sale were developed in partnership with 
Mennonite Church Eastern Canada, Hidden Acres 
Mennonite Camp and Silver Lake Mennonite Camps.

• The Committee, a bimonthly newsletter focused on 
Youth and Young Adults (YYA) readership, was 
developed and distributed.

• MCC Ontario gave leadership to a student seminar 
on climate action at the Rooted in Right Relationship 
with Each Other and Creation Conference, hosted by
the Peace & Justice Office in Ottawa. 

1 An engaged congregation is defined as being a donor, involved in Material Resources, hosting an event or speaker and/or being a refugee 
sponsor. 

2 A supporting church is an engaged church that is also Anabaptist. 

• An invite to represent the SALT program at
ConnectCity’s first Young Adults Fall Conference was
extended to MCCO.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results: 
• Even with 100 less-engaged churches, overall

engagement increased by 3%. The Niagara region
continues to overrepresent in this area with five of the
top ten churches.

• The importance of relationship and trust-building with
likeminded YYA organizations continues to be proven.

• Staff and funding capacity to support YYA engagement
across departments remains a challenge and impacts
outcomes.

• Several gaps and barriers exist in Summerbridge’s
strategic purpose, administrative process and alumni
retention. Resolution is complicated given MCC
Canada management and MCC Ontario’s division of
roles.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• A high school engagement initiative that spans all

departments will be piloted in the coming year.

https://mcccanada.ca/get-involved/serve/volunteer/salt
https://mcc.org/get-involved/volunteer/summerbridge
https://mcc.org/get-involved/advocacy/canada
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Strategic Direction 3 
Increase peacebuilding as a key component in all of our relief and development 
work and expand our efforts for justice and peace. 

Activity Overview: 
• 128 external peacebuilding and restorative justice

activities included 55 nonviolent peacebuilding
training sessions, 30 educational activities related to
justice for Indigenous peoples and 44 advocacy
activities.

• Collaborative effort internally and externally to
develop a comprehensive racial justice advocacy
plan focused on the overrepresentation of Indigenous
women and other racial minorities in Canada’s
prisons.

• 68% of staff participated in “Seeing Race through the
Eyes of Faith” training. The goal was to establish a 
biblical basis to engage in racial understanding and 
discussions.  

• Crucial Conversations and Training Active Bystanders
training was provided to staff who had not yet
participated in these training opportunities.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected 
Results: 
• MCC Ontario continues to try to live into Truth and

Reconciliation Commission (TRC) Call to Action 60
with integrity as we learn to respect Indigenous
spirituality at MCC events.

• There is a shift in more youth-focused organizations
and schools wanting to use Training Active
Bystanders (TAB) curriculum. This provides an
opportunity to re-evaluate MCC’s strategy to expand
efforts for peace and justice.

The movement toward Living Wage by The Region of 

Waterloo, 15 years after they were first approached, 
reminds us that advocacy movements take time, 
consistency and many small-step engagements that 
help create a broader political climate ready for  
change. We continue to strategically partner with    
others to amplify advocacy and change efforts.  

• When People’s Action Group (PAG) members are
empowered to help build and maintain positive
relationships with the many service providers, the
Region of Waterloo and the various players on all
levels of government, the PAG’s advocacy and system
change efforts seem to be more effective.

• So far, internal training for staff and volunteers on the
theology of peace and restorative justice has not been 
provided. Peaceful Practices and Embracing 
Beloved Community are curriculums to consider. 

Changes to Future Plans: 
• To increase impact, we plan to collaborate more on

restorative justice and justice for Indigenous peoples
across MCC provincial programs and along with MCC
Canada’s Peace and Justice Office.

• MCC Ontario hosts a wide array of peace and justice
activities; however, it’s challenging to identify the
impact of these sessions. A new shared Education and
Engagement position was created to help supporters
move more intentionally from listening to action.

• We need to develop a clearer annual training plan for
all areas of the organization, improving access to
training through technology along with a stronger
system and capacity for implementing and tracking
mandatory staff and volunteer training.

“I was able to reflect on what students and staff may be feeling when they see racism or discrimination happening. Being 
able to identify the reason why we don’t report is the first step in working toward actions that will help us become active 
bystanders.”  
– TAB Participant from Niagara Local Immigration Partnership

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
External peacebuilding and restorative 
justice activities and participants 

41 activities 
1,384 participants 

106 activities 
2,094 participants 

128 activities 
2,524 participants 

Staff and volunteers trained on peace and 
restorative justice 

Staff – (93) 65% 
Volunteers – (44) 4% 

Staff – (41) 30% 
Volunteers – (84) 

6% 

Staff – (41/142) 29% 
Volunteers – 
(20/1,717) 1% 

Staff and volunteers trained on anti-racism Staff – (22) 15% 
Volunteers – (1) O.7% 

Staff – (14) 10% 
Volunteers – 0% 

Staff – (111/132) 83% 
Volunteers – 0% 

Program participants with vulnerabilities 
trained on peace and restorative justice 

6 6 6 

OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3 3.5 

https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1524504325663/1557513116819
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/living-wage
https://mcccanada.ca/mcc-guide-having-better-conversations-divisive-issues
https://mcc.org/embracing-beloved-community
https://mcc.org/embracing-beloved-community
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Strategic Direction 3B
Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario staff and volunteers to foster social 
inclusion, belonging and community. 

Activity Overview: 
• Raw Carrot Soup Sales expanded to all MCC

Thrift Shops in Ontario, increasing the long-
term sustainability of providing supportive
employment for people with disabilities.

• Formal training of staff and volunteers on ways
to foster social inclusion, belonging and
community has not occurred, except for the
required Accessibility for Ontarians with
Disabilities (AODA) for new volunteers;
however, there appears to be increased
intentional conversations and mentoring in this
area.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results: 
• As MCC Ontario increases intentionally

engaging more diverse participants – young
people, people with mobility challenges, people
who bring lived experience of global colonialism
and other complex perspectives and challenges
– in educational activities, we need to make
sure that we take good care of participants but
also learn from them about how to do our work
in a deeply-inclusive way.

• This past year there has been increased
intentionality in fostering and acknowledging the
importance of reciprocity. Circle of Friends
participants valued the opportunity to volunteer
and give back through a relief kit packing event.

Raw Carrot participant staff were supported to 
provide community and connection for one 
another as is the case in most positive work 
settings. Intentionally creating opportunities for 
reciprocity is a priority. 

• Social and financial power differences exist in
circles between volunteers and participants.
Staff play a critical role in facilitating
conversations with volunteers about these
power dynamics, especially how they play out
around celebrations and gift-giving. Volunteers
are directed toward homemade gifts or simple
celebrations that can be easily engaged in by
the participant and reciprocated.

• Encouraging and supporting people
reintegrating into community after incarceration
who initiate projects and activities that foster
inclusion and belonging creates capacity and is
life-giving for all involved. It becomes their
project and their group. The Restorative Power
of Creativity Video is an example.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• Bringing the social inclusion model tested in

programs to other departments
• Continuing to work with partners to find the

best way to sustain the goals of CoSA

“Reciprocity is important . . . not an outpouring or overload of generosity when others can’t give back.” 
– Circle of Friends Volunteer

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
People with vulnerabilities who participated in 
social inclusion activities 

356 311 443 

Staff and volunteers trained on ways to foster 
social inclusion, belonging and community 

0 Staff – (25) 18% 
Volunteers – (265) 

18% 

Staff – 0 
Volunteers – (193/1,717) 

11% 
OVERALL KPI RATING 2 3 3 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CrG7xyiNMEA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CrG7xyiNMEA
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Strategic Direction 4 
Design and assess MCC’s program and operations in light of our commitment to 
care for God’s creation and accompany marginalized communities harmed by 
climate change.  

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
% of capital projects over $100,000 evaluated using 
one of MCC’s sustainability checklists 

n/a n/a 100% 

# of climate change awareness initiatives Data 
unavailable 

Data 
unavailable 

12 

# of responses to First Nations related to climate change 0 0 0 
# of operational initiatives that reduce and/or offset MCC’s 
carbon footprint 

0 0 0 

% of project plans assessed for fit with sustainability 
operating principle and care for God’s creation (assessed 
biannually)  

100% Assessment 
scheduled 
for summer 
2023 

OVERALL KPI RATING 1 1 2 

Activity Overview: 
• Climate change awareness initiatives included

in-person presentations and workshops and
key meetings with MCC Ontario’s key
leadership teams (MCC Ontario’s Board of
Directors, Senior Leadership Team and Cross-
Departmental Leadership Team).

• Preparatory work took place in anticipation of
the launch of MCC’s multi-year Climate Action 
for Peace campaign in the next fiscal year.  

• We were not approached by a First Nations
group to respond to a climate-related need.
Focus remains to deepen relationships with
Indigenous partners and collaborate as
opportunities arise.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected 
Results: 

• Depending on the scope and constraints of
projects, the current sustainability checklist
may have limited applicability.

• Our ability to track new initiatives to reduce
our carbon footprint is difficult given that our
starting point in 2020 was already quite high.
What size of impact should an initiative have
to be counted?

• There is a wide range of engagement,
knowledge, interest and belief within our
supporting churches regarding climate
change. Communities are comprised of
congregants who range from full investment in
climate action activities to those who deny
climate change and its impact.

• Healthy and trusting relationships are
essential when listening to and collaborating 
with Indigenous partners. The investment of 
time to pursue strong relationship is difficult to 
track in a way that demonstrates progress 
within our KPIs and metrics. It would be of 
value to integrate specific mechanisms for 
capturing and highlighting relationship-building 
work as an essential part of creation care 
work. 

• While we deepen our advocacy efforts during
the Climate Action for Peace Campaign, we
remain committed to operational change and
responding to requests from First Nations.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• As the Climate Action for Peace Campaign is

pursued over the next several years, we must
be strategically mindful to present it with
nuance as we invite MCC Ontario supporters
to engage in opportunities.

https://climateactionforpeace.com/
https://climateactionforpeace.com/
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Strategic Direction 5: 
Expand the reach and impact of Thrift Shops to increase revenue raised 
and promote the mission of MCC. 

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Annual revenue target met No* No* Achieved 
# of external opportunities for 
community connections 

Data 
unavailable* 

Data 
unavailable* 

2 

Social media engagement Instagram reach: +433.2% 
Facebook: -22% 

Unique website visits 43,000 
Customer counts (transactions) 370,161 531,406 
% of staff trained through internal 
Thrift Professional Development 
days and external training sessions 

Supervisors: 
96% 

Total team: 
76% 

Supervisors: 97% 
Total team: 77% 

Customer satisfaction and 
awareness of MCC measured and 
tracked over time  

Satisfaction - 
8/10 

Awareness – 
75% 

Satisfaction – 9/10 
Awareness – 40.8%** 

Total # of active volunteers and total 
# of hours 

Volunteers – 
830 

Hours – 
81,939 

Volunteers – 
1,246 

Hours – 
120,889 

Volunteers – 1,564 
Hours – 171, 871 

OVERALL KPI RATING 1 2 3.5 
*KPI-related activities were limited due to pandemic restrictions.
** Due to a survey error, the measurement of customer awareness of MCC is unreliable.

Activity Overview: 
• MCC Thrift celebrated 50 years in 2022. Across Ontario,

we hosted four gatherings.
• Exemplary reengagement with customers and donors

following years of pandemic restrictions resulted in
revenue milestones.

• Production and retail layouts were modified to maximize
selling capacity; strategic attention on key categories
resulted in increased sales.

• Shops continue to support external community
organizations in supplying books to correctional facilities
and low-cost goods for people transitioning from
shelters.

• A social media specialist was hired and has successfully
increased engagement with our posts; each post falls
under one of six core pillars: Shop, Donate, Volunteer,
Creation Care, Educate, Engage. A TikTok account has
been launched.

• Restructuring of staff within the Thrift department support
team refined and strengthened the leadership structure.
This will aid in strategic decision-making and deepen the
impact of Thrift over time.

Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results: 
• Social media engagement is dependent on each

platform’s own marketing strategy and user
algorithms.

• Developing department coordinators as leaders
within their area of focus has increased their
understanding of production values and their
relation to sales outcomes.

• Volunteers are an essential part of the workforce.
Paid staff provided 54 FTE, and volunteers
provided 88 FTE.

• Significant investment in our owned buildings
improves working conditions, accessibility and
overall health and safety, ensuring long-term
sustainability to our older properties. Revenue
gains can be made in current locations before
acquiring larger spaces.

• As floor space and subsequent sales increase, the
quantity of donations needed to maintain this high
level of sell-through is falling short in some
markets.

Changes to Future Plans: 
• New donation strategies and/or conservative

targets may be necessary to achieve sales targets
in larger shops.
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Strategic Direction 6 
Ensure the long-term sustainability of MCCO as we work with and 
seek to strengthen the broader MCC mission and structure. 

Key Performance Indicator Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
Sustainability score from assessment* pending 
Annual dashboard and year-end report developed and shared 
with stakeholders 

Yes Yes Yes 

OVERALL KPI RATING 2 3 3 
*Annual sustainability assessment comprised of average from ratings (completed by senior leadership staff using a four-point rating
as per dashboard plus qualitative analysis and recommendations) of fundraising metrics and report, Thrift Shops metrics and report,
Workforce metrics and report (includes staff and volunteer statistics as well as leadership and management trends/needs), risk
assessment and mitigation, financial reserves and financial sustainability and biannual analysis of MCCO program alignment with
strategic plan, operating principles, community needs and constituency support.

Activity Overview: 
• The national and binational covenants that outline

how MCC entities agree to work together were
signed by board chairs in March 2023.

• Annual tracking of impact, outcomes and indicators
of all departments (Donations, Thrift, Program and
Operations) continues. The first sustainability
assessment was completed.

• The level of operational reserves increased from low
to within the targeted range.

• A quarterly financial dashboard was developed to
enable the Board to provide well-informed oversight.

• Realignment of DR portfolios with operational
priorities and staff giftedness, along with two
strategic hires, helped considerably to strengthen
the team and contribute to strong outcomes.

• Utilization of social media in recruitment efforts has
yielded great return for minimal investment – with an
increase in the number of candidates per posting in
the last quarter of the year.

• Integration of MCC Ontario’s IT with the MCC-
system to strengthen digital security is in process. 

• Thrift Shops pursued opportunities to build the
benefits and connection points with their local
communities: safe space for volunteers, local
charitable giving, gifts-in-kind, etc.

• Organization-wide, for every four paid staff, we have
three volunteers; a younger age demographic of
volunteers has emerged in Program areas that offer
opportunities to work online.

• Security with Compassion, a cross-departmental
effort to address safety issues on MCC properties,
was developed.

• Biannual analysis of Program alignment with the
strategic plan is scheduled for the summer.

• Analysis, Learning and Unexpected Results:
• The success of our fundraising efforts because of

the generosity of our donors requires continual
assessment and evaluation to ensure that there is
an alignment between the infrastructure needs and
capacity of the fundraising team.

• Recognizing the level of system-wide risk held
during the pandemic, consideration is being made to
increase the range of MCC Ontario’s financial
reserves.

• Consistent with broader trends, volunteerism is
changing over time as generations age. It is a false
assumption that a 1:1 replacement ratio exists, and
fundamental changes to our practices will be
required to remain relevant.

• Recognizing the role and impact that MCC Ontario
provides across the MCC system, it is critical to 
evaluate our outcomes to inform investment that 
maximizes impact and strategically strengthens 
organizational sustainability.  

Changes to Future Plans: 
• Better understanding of MCC Ontario’s current

workforce ecosystem is required for informed
decision-making and planning, such as intersection of
staff and volunteers, onboarding process and
expectations, staff wellness and culture, etc.



Appendix 1:  

2023 Biannual Becoming Peacemakers Survey 

Introduction: Throughout the 2020-2025 MCC Ontario Strategic Plan, there are operational priorities and 
key performance indicators related to staff and volunteer capacity to achieve the strategic directions. The 
Biannual Survey will track the collective progress in developing staff and volunteer capacity. 

Methodology: In February 2023, 134 staff received an online survey link. 1,263 active volunteers received 
the survey by email or mail.  

Staff Volunteers 
February 2021 February 2023 February 2021 February 2023 

Response Rate 60% 
(84/140) 

84% 
(113/134) 

25% 
(465/1,858) 

34% 
(428/1,268) 

Completion 
Rate 

99% 98% 75% 64% 

Staff Volunteers 
2021 2023 2021 2023 

Strategic Direction 1B: Supporting Vulnerable People 
Capacity, confidence and 
understanding of issues 
connected to vulnerable, 
uprooted and displaced 
people 

Strongly equipped 37% 28% 13% 15% 
Somewhat equipped 43% 55% 46% 46% 
Not at all equipped 6% 4% 6% 5% 
Not relevant to my role with 
MCC Ontario 13% 13% 35% 34% 

Strategic Direction 3: Peacebuilding 
Confidence to have 
conversations when stakes 
are high, opinions vary, and 
emotions run strong 

Extremely confident 13% 6% 11% 9% 
Very confident 30% 36% 30% 28% 
Somewhat confident 35% 44% 35% 50% 
Not so confident 18% 9% 18% 11% 
Not at all confident 2% 5% 2% 2% 

Equipped to respond to 
racism when they witness 
or encounter it 

Strongly equipped 20% 26% 19% 18% 
Somewhat equipped 67% 65% 58% 57% 
Not at all equipped 11% 6% 10% 11% 
Not relevant to my role with 
MCC Ontario 

1% 3% 13% 14% 

Strategic Direction 3B: Foster Social Inclusion 
Equipped to foster social 
inclusion and community 
belonging in their work with 
MCC Ontario 

Strongly equipped 28% 32% 17% 18% 
Somewhat equipped 67% 63% 52% 61% 
Not at all equipped 2% 3% 9% 5% 
Not relevant to my role with 
MCC Ontario 

2% 3% 22% 16% 
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Analysis of Survey Process: 
• We continue to learn how to best conduct a

survey with all staff and volunteers. Each
person brings diverse experience to their role.
For some people, they have believed and
practised being a peacemaker for decades; for
others, they are new to thinking about what it
means to apply peacemaking in their roles
with MCC.

• Volunteers were interested in participating in
the survey, but the survey’s complexity
significantly impacted the completion rate.

• Not all staff and volunteers have participated
in the same learning opportunities, and so
survey results are mixed.

• It’s challenging to identify terminology that is
clearly understood by everyone completing the
survey. The purpose of the survey was also
not clear to all.

• Clarification is needed on what skills all staff
and volunteers are expected to have to safely
and effectively intervene and be peacemakers
in their roles with MCC.

Analysis of Survey Results: 
• MCC staff and volunteers want to make a

positive difference. They don’t need to be sold
on the need to do so – motivation isn’t an
issue.

• Staff and volunteers acknowledge that there
are issues present.

• Most staff and volunteers have an awareness
of what those issues are and how they 
present.  

• There are attitude changes toward extent,
degree of issues, and need to respond.

• Some are strongly equipped to take action to
resolve issues or step in when needed; others
would like to be more equipped to respond.
Others believe responding is not relevant or
applicable to their role with MCC.

• There has been the most change in
acknowledgement, awareness and attitudes.
Change in actions seemed to be the weakest
area and possibly the area in which most
hoped to have been better equipped.

• For some, nothing has changed. Either they
are very experienced and skilled, or they did
not have opportunity to participate in any
learning opportunities provided by MCC.

• Effecting change in knowledge, beliefs and
attitudes is straightforward, but it is much more
challenging to effect behavioural change.

• Some experienced the training content of
(TAB, Race Through the Eyes of Faith) to be
just right; others desired stronger content.

• There was a slight shift in the relevance of
peacemaking to our roles with MCC Ontario;
however, still more than 20% of staff and 40%
of volunteers believe peacemaking is not
relevant to their roles.

Next Steps: 
• Review of survey results and

recommendations by Senior Leadership Team
and Cross Departmental Leadership

• Development of action plan

“The more I learn the less equipped I feel.” 
– Survey participant

2022-2023 | MCC Ontario Year-End Report ii.



Appendix 2: Key Performance Indicator Details 
Strategic Direction 1: 
Increase the capacity of the church and other partners as they support and equip people with vulnerabilities, especially those uprooted and 
displaced. 
Key Performance 
Indicator 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Capacity-building training 
and events organized by 
MCC for churches and 
other partners 

• 11 monthly check-ins with
Sponsorship Groups

• Seven post-arrival training
sessions for Sponsorship
Groups – preparing for
month 13, financial webinar

• 70 pre-arrival trainings for
Sponsorship Groups
(orientation onboarding,
expression of interest
support calls, paperwork
support calls)

• 12 monthly check-ins with
Sponsorship Groups

• 12 pre-arrival training sessions
for BVOR Sponsorship Groups
(settlement orientation, finance
orientation)

• 79 pre-arrival training sessions
for Named Sponsorship Groups
(onboarding orientation,
settlement orientation, finance
orientation)

• One Training Active Bystanders
training session for seven
trainers

• 12 monthly check-ins with
Sponsorship Groups

• Six pre-arrival training
sessions for BVOR
Sponsorship Groups
(settlement orientation [3],
finance orientation [3])

• 73 pre-arrival training sessions
for Named Sponsorship
Groups (Named Calls [23], EOI
mandatory training sessions
[5], sponsorship orientation [6],
settlement orientation [20],
finance orientation [19])

• Four Training Active
Bystanders training sessions
for 54 trainers and instructors

Churches and partners 
engaged with MCC projects 
with displaced people and 
people with vulnerabilities  

Subset: 
# of churches/organizations 
welcoming newcomers  

• 129 Sponsorship Groups
including (BVOR and
NAMED) submitted
applications for refugee
sponsorship and/or
supported newcomers within
the first year of the
settlement process in
Ontario:
o 27 – Mennonite and BIC

groups

• 136 Sponsorship Groups
including (BVOR and NAMED)
submitted applications for
refugee sponsorship and/or
supported newcomers within the
first year of the settlement
process in Ontario:
o 23 – Mennonite and BIC

groups
o 18 – Other Christian faith-

based groups

• 171 Sponsorship Groups
including (BVOR and NAMED)
submitted applications for
refugee sponsorship and/or
supported newcomers within
the first year of the settlement
process in Ontario:

• 37 (22%) - Mennonite and BIC
groups

• 14 (0.8%) – Other Christian
faith-based groups
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o 25 – Other Christian
faith-based groups

o One – Other non-
Christian faith-based
groups

o 76 – Non-faith-based
groups – 76/129 (59%)

• Nine organizations
collaborated on initiatives to
support Low German
settlement in Ontario

• Three Networking
Committees worked to
support Low German
settlement in Ontario

• Three organizations
received financial grants
from MCC to support
refugee claimants and Low
German newcomers.

o 0 – Other non-Christian faith-
based groups

o 95 – Non-faith-based groups
– 95/136 (70%)

• CDR Report: 142 Supporting
Churches including 104
Anabaptist affiliated (Mennonite
and BIC Congregations); 22%
(24/104) Mennonite and BIC
Congregations are involved with
refugee sponsorship.

• 14 organizations collaborated on
initiatives to support Low
German settlement in Ontario.

• Three Networking Committees
worked to support Low German
settlement.

• Three organizations received
financial grants from MCC to
support refugee claimants and
Low German newcomers.

• Five Indigenous communities
received MCC material
resources and/or emergency
food to support people impacted
by the pandemic.

• 0 – Other non-Christian faith-
based groups

• 120 (70%) – Community-based
groups

• CDR Report: 218 Supporting
Churches including 135
Anabaptist affiliated
(Mennonite & BIC
Congregations); 27% (37/135)
Mennonite and BIC
Congregations are involved
with refugee sponsorship.

• 36 organizations collaborated
on initiatives to support Low
German settlement in Ontario.

• Three organizations received
$23,000 in financial grants
from MCC to support refugee
claimants and Low German
newcomers.

• 13 Indigenous communities
received gardening kits and/or
greenhouses to support
Indigenous food sovereignty.

Individuals participating in 
educational activities 
related to root causes of 
migration, displacement and 
factors leading to 
vulnerability (MCC Canada) 

• 248 individuals benefitted
from the “Supporting Low
German-Speaking
Communities during COVID-
19” webinar.

• 40 individuals attended the
virtual World Refugee Day
Celebration.

• 203 individuals attended the
Named Refugee
Sponsorship Orientation.

• 345 people attended “Gathering
Around COVID” webinar hosted
for people supporting Low
German settlement in Ontario.

• 409 individuals attended two
virtual World Refugee Day
Celebrations.

• 138 people attended five
speaking engagements about
the root causes of migration at
churches and at Conrad Grebel.

• 397 people participated in
three educational activities
related to Low German
migration and engagement.

• 358 people attended 11
educational activities on
migration and resettlement.

• 224 people participated in
three educational activities
related to walking with people
in poverty.
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• 25 Religion and
Peacebuilding
undergraduate students from
Conrad Grebel University
College learned about
migration and displacement.

• 25 individuals participated in
eight online discussions
about homelessness during
the COVID-19 pandemic.

• 16 youth and young adults
participated in Material
Resources education
activities.3

• 176 individuals attended five
Named Sponsorship Orientation
Sessions, four Expressions of
Interest Support Calls and two
Sponsorship Finance Calls.

• 182 people participated in four
educational activities related to
reintegration after
incarceration.

• 128 people participated in
Great Winter Warm Up at 65
Heritage Drive.

Strategic Direction 1B: 
Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario staff and volunteers to support people with vulnerabilities, especially those uprooted and displaced in 
Ontario. 
Key Performance 
Indicator 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Staff and volunteers trained 
to support people with 
vulnerabilities 

• Undercurrents Webinar (all
volunteers)

• Jingle Dress Screening (all
staff and volunteers)

• Stories of Migration and
Displacement and Conflict
Analysis (program staff)

• Cultural Intelligence (Program
Staff)

• Indigenous Neighbours Program
Overview (Thrift Staff)

• National Truth and Reconciliation
Day (All Staff)

• CoSA 101 (CoSA Volunteers)
• Circle of Friends Connection and

Training (CoF Volunteers) (4x)
• Suicide Awareness (CoSA

Volunteers)
• Material Resources –

Educational Training (MR Group
Volunteers)

• Circle of Friends Connection
and Training (CoF Volunteers)
(3x)

• CoSA Volunteer Orientation
(4x)

• Suicide Awareness (Program
Volunteers)

• Trauma-informed Training
(Program Staff and Volunteers)

• Blanket Exercises (CDL)
• Getting Our Boat in Order

(SLT)
• National Truth and

Reconciliation Day (All Staff)

3 For 2021-2022 MR education activities are tracked as volunteer trainings 
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People with vulnerabilities 
supported through 
programs and percentage 
of total people and people 
with vulnerabilities served 

• Six individuals with
disabilities and barriers to
traditional employment

• 25 Indigenous artisans
• 42 individuals with the

lived experience of
homelessness

• 115 individuals with a
criminal history

• 215 individuals forced
to flee from their home
as refugees welcomed
to Canada

• 368 individuals forced
to flee from their home
as refugees still waiting
to come to Canada

• Six individuals with disabilities
and barriers to traditional
employment

• 15 Indigenous artisans
• 48 individuals with

the lived experience
of homelessness

• 126 individuals with a criminal
history

• 141 individuals forced to flee
from their home as refugees
welcomed to Canada

• 430 individuals forced to
flee from their home as
refugees still waiting to
come to Canada

• Six individuals participated
in Reclaiming Beauty, a
project aimed at building
more inclusive and
supportive communities
through relationships,
creativity and compassion

• Seven individuals with
disabilities and barriers to
traditional employment

• 26 Indigenous artisans
• 40 individuals with the lived

experience of homelessness
• 102 individuals with a criminal

history
• Four individuals participating

in Guiding Good Choices
• 305 individuals forced to flee

from their home as refugees
welcomed to Canada

• 432 individuals forced to flee
from their homes as refugees
still waiting to come to
Canada

• Nine individuals
participated in
Reclaiming Beauty, not
including CoF
participants

Strategic Direction 2: 
Increase responsive engagement across the full range of Anabaptist churches and beyond, with an increased focus on audience-based 
communications, fundraising and recruitment efforts with a new generation. 
Key Performance 
Indicator 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

# of congregations 
engaged from each 
Anabaptist conference 

• Baseline data collected • 66 Mennonite Church Eastern
Canada (MCEC)

• 14 Mennonite Brethren (MB)
• 13 Plain Groups
• 10 Be In Christ (BIC)
• Two Evangelical Mennonite

Conference (EMC)
• One Evangelical Mennonite

Mission Conference (EMMC)

• 91 Mennonite Church Eastern
Canada (MCEC)

• 28 Mennonite Brethren (MB)
• 19 Plain Groups
• 52 Be In Christ (BIC)
• Seven Evangelical Mennonite

Conference (EMC)
• Three Evangelical Mennonite

Mission Conference (EMMC)
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Strategic Direction 3: 
Increase peacebuilding as a key component in all of our relief and development work and expand our efforts for justice and peace. 
Key Performance 
Indicator 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

External peacebuilding and 
restorative justice activities 
and participants 

Subsets: 
o # of nonviolent

peacebuilding training
sessions; # of
participants

o # of educational events
related to justice for
Indigenous peoples; # of
participants

o # of advocacy activities
informed by the lived
experience of
participants with
vulnerabilities

• 659 people engaged in 11
activities related to justice for
Indigenous Peoples,
including webinars, a virtual
learning tour, virtual tours of
Woodland Cultural Centre’s
Mohawk Indian Residential
School and the screening of
Jingle Dress-First Dance.

• 58 leaders trained to
mobilize peacebuilding
activities in their
organizations and
communities.

• 142 individuals participated
in nine Training Active
Bystanders (TAB) training
sessions facilitated by
MCCO TAB trainers.

• 525 individuals engaged in
nine restorative justice and
peacebuilding activities,
including Peace Conference,
Book Clubs and The
Meeting House
Peacemakers training.

• Two letter campaigns
advocated for paid sick
leave and a just recovery
plan for the vulnerable
members of society.

• 380 Living Wage employers
were recognized through a

• 1,095 people engaged in 19
activities related to justice for
Indigenous Peoples, including
speaking engagements, events,
learning tour and Niska
workshop.

• 14 Indigenous communities
received gardening kits and/or
greenhouses to support
Indigenous food sovereignty.

• 41 leaders graduated from the
Peace Skills Certificate Program.

• 266 individuals participated in 18
Training Active Bystanders
(TAB) training sessions
facilitated by MCCO TAB
Trainers.

• 677 individuals engaged in
seven peacebuilding training
sessions, including Peace
Conference, Peaceful at Heart
Book Clubs and Human
Resources Professional
Association.

• 15 People’s Action Group
members continued to advocate
for affordable housing.

Number of participants not tracked 
for the following peacebuilding 
activities: 
• 48 advocacy activities in

response to community-led
priorities including meetings with

• 1,610 people participated in 30
activities related to justice for
Indigenous Peoples, including
speaking engagements,
events, learning tour and Niska
workshops.

• 665 individuals participated in
41 Training Active Bystanders
(TAB) training sessions
facilitated by MCCO TAB
Trainers.

• 249 individuals engaged in 13
peacebuilding training
sessions, including Peaceful at
Heart Book Clubs.

Number of participants not tracked 
for the following peacebuilding 
activities: 
• 40 political and constituency

advocacy engagement
activities, including meetings
with government policymakers,
collaborations working toward
policy change, letter-writing,
radio interviews, presentation
to Standing Committee on
Finance and Economic Affairs,
Peace and Justice Newsletter
Article

• 13 PAG members were
consulted on four policy issues
– Pocket Card Redesign
Consultation, Focus Group on
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partnership with Ontario 
Living Wage Network.  

• People’s Action Group
continues to advocate for
affordable housing.

government policymakers, 
collaborations working toward 
policy change, letter-writing, 
blogs, editorials, water booklet, 
presentations, grant for Ontario 
Living Wage 

Health Services in Supportive 
Housing, Fair and 
Compassionate Response to 
Safety and Security 
Challenges at 50 Kent, 
Regional interim housing 
solutions. 

Staff and Volunteers trained 
on peace and restorative 
justice 

• Training Active Bystanders
(Staff and Volunteers)

• Weaving the Fabric of Peace
into all of our work (Program
Staff and Volunteers)

• Introduction to Restorative
Justice (Program Staff)

• Training Active Bystanders (Staff
and Volunteers)

• CoSA Boundaries (CoSA
Volunteers)

• Training Active Bystanders
(Staff and Volunteers)

• Crucial Conversations (Staff)

Staff and Volunteers trained 
on anti-racism 

• Responding to Racism
(Program Staff)

• Treaty, Reserve and
Residential Schools
(Program Staff)

• Trauma-informed
Approaches (Interested Staff
and Volunteers)

• Anti-Islamophobia Training
(Program Staff)

• Seeing Race Through the
Eyes of Faith (All Staff)

• Creating a Land
Acknowledgement (Program
Staff)

Program participants with 
vulnerabilities trained on 
peace and restorative 
justice 

• Six Circle of Friends
participants participated in
Culture of Peace (10
sessions)

• Six Circle of Friends participants
participated in Culture of Peace
(eight sessions)

• Six Circle of Friends
participants participated in
Culture of Peace
(three sessions)

Strategic Direction 3B: 
Increase peacebuilding as a key component in all of our relief and development work and expand our efforts for justice and peace. 
Key Performance 
Indicator 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

People with vulnerabilities 
who participated in social 
inclusion activities 

• 47 participants were
supported through 647
CoSA and Circle of Friends
Circle meetings involving 73

• 311 out of 770 participants
with vulnerabilities; 459
refugees waiting to come to
Canada

• 443 out of 925 participants
with vulnerabilities; 482
refugees waiting to come to
Canada
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volunteers (1503 volunteer 
hours). 

• 14 individuals were
supported to maintain
community connectedness
through Circle of Friends
events: eight Healing
Journeys Sessions; nine
Monthly Virtual Gatherings;
10 Culture of Peace monthly
meetings; eight Culture of
Peace Peacemaker
Hangouts (35).

• 44 individuals living with the
stigma of a criminal history
participated in 54 social
inclusion activities, including
Dismas Fellowship, Bible
Studies, Trivia Nights, Movie
Club, Photo and Video Club.

• 57 individuals were
supported with faith
community reintegration
during the pandemic.

• 215 newcomers adjusted to
life in Canada with the
support of 57 Sponsorship
Groups.

• Six individuals with
disabilities and barriers to
traditional employment each
earned $2,322 of
supplemental income
working at the Raw Carrot
Soup Enterprise.

• 59 participants were supported
through 880 CoSA and Circle of
Friends meetings involving 86
volunteers (1,878.52 hours).
Circle of Friends:

o 168 Circle Meetings
o 14 participants
o 26 volunteers
o 348.22 volunteer hours

CoSA: 
o 712 circle meetings
o 45 core members
o 60 volunteers
o 1530.3 volunteer hours

• 20 individuals were supported to
maintain community
connectedness through Circle of
Friends activities: 24 Healing
Journeys Sessions; nine monthly
gatherings.

• 45 individuals living with the
stigma of a criminal history 
participated in 40 social inclusion 
activities, including Dismas 
Fellowship, Bible Studies, Trivia 
Nights, Movie Club, Photo and 
Video Club and CROW. 

• 61 individuals were supported
with faith community
reintegration.

• 141 newcomers adjusted to life
in Canada with the support of 41
Sponsorship Groups.

• Six individuals with disabilities
and barriers to traditional
employment each earned $3,607
of supplemental income working

• 71 participants were supported
through 802 Circle meetings
involving 95 volunteers
(1,542.10 hours).
Circle of Friends:

o 342 Circle Meetings
o 17 participants
o 30 volunteers
o 635.10 volunteer hours

CoSA: 
o 460 Circle Meetings
o 54 core members
o 64 volunteers
o 902.01 volunteer hours

• 28 individuals were supported
to maintain community
connectedness through Circle
of Friends activities: 24
Healing Journeys Sessions; 10
monthly gatherings.

• 58 individuals living with the
stigma of a criminal history 
participated in 75 social 
inclusion activities, including 
Dismas Fellowship, Bible 
Studies, Trivia Nights, Movie 
Club, Photo and Video Club 
and CROW. 

• 15 individuals were supported
with faith community
reintegration.

• 305 newcomers adjusted to life
in Canada with the support of
113 Sponsorship Groups.

• Seven individuals with
disabilities and barriers to
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at the Raw Carrot Soup 
Enterprise. 

• Six individuals participated in six
Reclaiming Beauty sessions.

traditional employment each 
earned on average $3,858 of 
supplemental income working 
at the Raw Carrot Soup 
Enterprise. 

• 16 individuals participated in
28 Reclaiming Beauty
sessions.

Staff and volunteers trained 
on ways to foster social 
inclusion, belonging and 
community 

• n/a • Inclusion Nexus – Design Phase
Report (Program Staff)

• Stories of Transformation and
Inclusion (Program Staff and
Volunteers)

• Talking Circle (Program Staff)
• AODA (Volunteers)
• Circle of Friends Orientation

Training (CoF Volunteers)

• AODA (Volunteers) (1x)
• Circle of Friends Orientation

Training (CoF Volunteers) (7x)
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MCC Ontario Strategic Directions 2020-2025 
 The purpose of MCCO’s Strategic Plan is to identify strategic directions over five years that will equip us to advance our mission. 

Strategic Direction 1 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Increase the capacity of the 
church and other partners as 
they support and equip 

people with vulnerabilities*, especially 
people who have been uprooted and 
displaced.  

• Foster an array of opportunities within MCC (both in Ontario and
globally) to engage churches, supporters and partners on priority
needs for people with vulnerabilities, uprooted and displaced.

• Train, educate, connect and resource churches, supporters and
partners from our knowledge and skill base (including trauma-
informed and decolonizing approaches) so that they can
meaningfully engage.

• Ensure quality support for newcomers through the resettlement
and integration process

• # of educational activities related to root causes of migration,
displacement and factors leading to vulnerability; # of participants (Note:
the focus is on the individual participant)

• # of capacity building training and events organized by MCC for churches
and other partners (Note: the focus is on church/organization/group)

• # of churches/organizations welcoming newcomers
• # of humanitarian responses for populations with vulnerabilities in Ontario

and globally

• # of capacity building training and events
organized by MCC for churches and other
partners

Target Recommendation 
• Church and partner capacity increased by similar

number of trainings each year to new audiences

Strategic Direction 1B Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Increase the capacity of 
MCCO staff and volunteers to 
support people with 

vulnerabilities*, especially those 
uprooted and displaced in Ontario. 

• Develop the capacity of Ontario programs and Thrift to safely and
compassionately support people with vulnerabilities, especially
those uprooted and displaced in Ontario.

• Develop the capacity of staff and volunteers to support people
with vulnerabilities safely and compassionately, especially those
uprooted and displaced in Ontario.

• # of people with vulnerabilities supported through programs and
percentage of the total people served that are vulnerable

• % of staff and volunteers trained per year
• % of staff and volunteers equipped to support people with vulnerabilities

(bi-annual survey)

• % of staff and volunteers equipped to support
people with vulnerabilities (bi-annual survey)

Target Recommendation 
• Increase over time

Strategic Direction 2 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Increase responsive 
engagement across the full 
range of Anabaptist churches 

and beyond, with an increased focus on 
audience-based communications, 
fundraising and recruitment efforts with 
a new generation. 

• Identify and implement specific strategies to increase connection
with and engagement of younger audiences, including volunteers,
staff and donors.

• Identify and implement specific strategies to increase connection
with and engagement of both existing churches (Anabaptist and
beyond), and new churches

• # of new volunteers under 30 years old (ages 14-17 & ages 18-30)
• # of current volunteers under 30 years old (ages 14-17 & ages 18-30)
• # of current staff under 30 years old
• # of initiatives developed and implemented that increase connections with

younger potential donors
• # of new supporting churches
• % of engaged congregations from each conference
• # of total supporting churches
• % of churches with higher engagement scores
• # of engaged congregations outside of Anabaptist conferences (“and

beyond”)

• # of initiatives developed and implemented that
increase connections with younger potential
donors

• % of churches with higher engagement scores

Target Recommendation 
• Increase over time

Strategic Direction 3 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Increase peacebuilding as a 
key component in all of our 
relief and development work 

and expand our efforts for justice and 
peace. 

• Collaborate (internal and external) to address systemic barriers to
peace and justice (prevention and advocacy)

• Intentionally include and create anti-racism strategies in all our
efforts

• Continue to respond to the need for justice for Indigenous
peoples, including the Truth and Reconciliation Commission Calls to
Action

• Implement peace and restorative justice programming, training and
initiatives

• Implement internal training for staff and volunteers re theology of
peace and restorative justice

• # of external peacebuilding and restorative justice activities; # of participants
Subsets:
o # of advocacy activities informed by the lived experience of vulnerable

participants
o # of educational events related to justice for Indigenous peoples; # of

participants
• % of staff and volunteers trained on peace and restorative justice
• % of staff and volunteers trained on anti-racism
• % of staff and volunteers with confidence to have conversations when stakes

are high, opinions vary, and emotions run strong (bi-annual survey)
• % of staff and volunteers equipped to respond to racism when they witness

or encounter it (bi-annual survey)
• # of vulnerable program participants trained on peace and restorative justice

• # of external peacebuilding and restorative justice
activities; # of participants

Target Recommendation 
• Increase over time
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Strategic Direction 3B Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Increase the capacity of 
MCCO staff and volunteers 
to foster social inclusion, 
belonging and community. 

• Intentionally explore inclusion and belonging best practices and
theory of change

• Train staff and volunteers on the competencies and values required
to strengthen social inclusion capacity

• Develop programs and Thrift to enhance social inclusion, belonging
and community

• % of staff & volunteers trained on ways to foster social inclusion, belonging
and community

• % of staff and volunteers who indicate (through self-reporting) being better
equipped to foster social inclusion and community belonging in their work
with MCC Ontario

• # of people with vulnerabilities who participate in social inclusion activities.

• % of staff and volunteers who indicate (through
self-reporting) being better equipped to foster
social inclusion and community belonging in their
work with MCC Ontario

Target Recommendation 
• Increases over time

Strategic Direction 4 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Design and assess MCC’s 
program and operations in 
light of our commitment to 
care for God’s creation and 

accompany marginalized communities 
harmed by climate change.  

• Use MCC’s environmental assessment guidelines for all new projects
and initiatives (capital projects over $100,000 and/or projects that
have a project or business plan)

• Increase awareness of the impact of on vulnerable populations (First
Nations, refugees)

• Commitment to the continuation of existing program and
operational efforts to reduce MCCO’s carbon footprint

• As part of biannual fit and alignment review of programs, assess fit
for sustainability (operating principle) and care for God’s creation.

• # of climate change awareness initiatives
• # of responses to First Nations related to climate change
• % of capital projects over $100,000 evaluated using one of MCC’s

sustainability checklists
• # of operational initiatives that reduce and or offset MCC’s carbon footprint
• % of project plans assessed for fit with sustainability operating principle and

care for God’s creation (assessed biannually)

• % of capital projects over $100,000 evaluated
using one of MCC’s sustainability checklists

Target Recommendation 
• 100% of capital projects over $100,000

Strategic Direction 5 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Expand the reach and impact 
of Thrift Shops to increase 
revenue raised and promote 

the mission of MCC. 

• Continue to explore initiatives to increase revenue
• Develop and implement a strategy to promote MCC and encourage

further engagement with potential and existing shoppers, donors
and volunteers

• Build competencies of staff who supervise to be effective and
accountable in their roles

• Implement a customer-centric focus with customer satisfaction
tracked over time

• Develop a strategy to attract, recruit, train, support and retain
volunteers in thrift

• Annual revenue target
• # of external opportunities for community connections
• Metrics using social media engagement; unique website visits and customer

counts in shop
• % of staff trained through internal Thrift Professional Development days &

external trainings
• Customer satisfaction and awareness of MCC measured annually and tracked

over time (customer surveys)
• Total # of active volunteers and total # of hours

• Annual revenue target met

Target Recommendation 

• Meet the annual target and increase over time

Strategic Direction 6 Ontario Operational High-level Priorities Ontario Key Performance Indicators Ontario KPI Dashboard 

Ensure the long-term 
sustainability of MCCO as we 
work within and seek to 

strengthen the broader MCC mission and 
structure.  

• Foster effective governance, leadership and management (find
tool that measures this as part of sustainability assessment)

• Develop and implement a strategic and comprehensive fundraising
strategy 

• Assess alignment with and impact of MCC’s strategic plan in light
of community needs, changing realities and constituency
support

• Identify the additional benefits of Thrift beyond profit and prioritize
these benefits to ensure shop sustainability

• Assess and define sustainability and capacity limits and targets for
the organization

• Continue risk assessment process and further develop emergency
and crisis management protocols (including digital security)

• Develop and implement a workforce plan (staff and volunteer) that
meets current and future needs of MCCO incorporating best
practices

• Annual Dashboard and Year-end Report developed and shared with
stakeholders

• Annual sustainability assessment comprised of average from ratings
(completed by leadership staff using 4-point rating as per dashboard plus
qualitative analysis and recommendations) as listed below:

o Annual rating and qualitative analysis of fundraising metrics and report
o Annual rating and qualitative analysis of Thrift Shops metrics and

report (with clarity on Thrift benefits and purpose)
o Annual rating and qualitative analysis of Workforce metrics report

(includes staff and volunteer statistics as well as leadership and
management trends/needs)

o Biannual rating and qualitative analysis of fit and alignment assessment
of MCCO programs with strategic plan, operating principles,
community needs and constituency support

o Annual rating of risk assessment and mitigation plan
o Annual rating and qualitative analysis of financial reserves and financial

stability

• Sustainability score from assessment

Target Recommendation 

• Sustainability score above 3 consistently over time

*An individual or population is vulnerable because their circumstances are part of a larger system that does not provide fair and equal access to meet their social, physical, and economic needs. MCC Ontario focuses on working with people who have a lived experienced of homelessness or living in poverty;
have a recent refugee background or are marginalized newcomers to Canada; live without access to basic human rights; or are leaving prison or jail to re-enter the community. We recognize the resilience and strengths of populations with vulnerabilities.
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Appendix 4: 
MCC’s Vision and Mission 

MCC, a worldwide ministry of Anabaptist churches, shares God’s love and compassion for all 
in the name of Christ by responding to basic human needs and working for peace and justice. 
MCC envisions communities worldwide in right relationship with God, one another and creation. 
For further information about MCC's vision, mission, history and leadership please visit 
mcc.org/about/vision.

In addition to supporting projects around the globe. MCC Ontario serves communities across 
the province. We journey with those impacted by crime, poverty and homelessness. We walk 
toward reconciliation with Indigenous Neighbours and alongside newcomers building a new life. 
r further information, visit our website. 
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Appendix 5: 
About MCC Ontario 

MCC Ontario responds to poverty by walking alongside marginalized people with compassion 
and caring. We help provide meaningful employment and promote sustainable livelihoods. 
Through our advocacy work, we create awareness and inspire action.

Program Areas

Indigenous Neighbours

The Indigenous Neighbours program facilitates reconciliation through relationship, art and 
advocacy. We help share culture as we support Indigenous artists. We address systemic 
poverty issues by responding to disasters, advocating for justice and promoting sustainable 
livelihoods

• Food sovereignty: The cost and availability of food is a serious issue for Indigenous
neighbors in Northern Ontario. Rooted firmly in our relationship to the land, we are
participating with nine First Nation communities across Northern Ontario to raise funds to
transport community gardening kits to support Indigenous food sovereignty.

• Niska Artisans: Niska Artisans supports Indigenous artisans by purchasing their work,
hosting workshops and sales and creating space to gather. This fair trade program seeks
to educate about unique cultures in Ontario’s far north and to preserve a way of life that’s
being lost.

• Reconciliation: MCC Ontario listens to the voices of Indigenous people and seeks to walk
in friendship and solidarity. We provide opportunities to learn about the harmful impacts of
colonization and residential schools. We help equip churches to engage in reconciliation
and peacebuilding.

• Clean Water: Many First Nations communities struggle to access clean and safe drinking
water. Across Ontario, the Indigenous Neighbours program advocates for clean, safe
drinking water and raises awareness through webinars and other initiatives.

Material Resources

From disaster relief supplies sent to fly-in Indigenous communities to kits and comforters sent 
to people displaced in countries such as Syria, MCC Ontario connects our communities with 
those in need worldwide.

• Stationary Meat Canner: MCC Ontario’s new stationary meat canner will can over 90,000
pounds of meat in the first year - that’s almost double the output of past years - feeding
thousands more hungry people each year! With your help, we plan to grow from there.

• Kits and Comforters: When you make and send kits and comforters to people in the
midst of conflict, disaster or poverty, you provide a tangible reminder that their needs
matter.
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Migration and Resettlement

Across Ontario, we support groups such as churches and municipalities that welcome 
newcomers through Canada's private sponsorship of refugees program. We liaise with service 
providers to deliver culturally sensitive services to Low German-speaking Mennonites.

• Supporting refugees: Around the world, people become refugees when they are forced to
flee their homes because of conflict or violence. Learn how you can bring newcomers to
Canada through the Private Sponsorship of Refugees Program.

• Blended Visa Office Referred program: The Blended Visa Office Referred program is a
program where the Canadian government contributes to the financial support of
newcomers. Under this model, newcomers receive six months of income support through
the Canadian government and the sponsoring groups cover the remaining six months.

• Supporting Low German-speaking newcomers: MCC has long standing relationships
with Low German-speaking Mennonites across North and South America. In Ontario, we
provide support to Low German newcomers through capacity building, networking and
advocacy and partnering with other groups working with Low German newcomers.

Restorative Justice

We support formerly incarcerated individuals in their reintegration journey using creativity, peer 
mentoring and building resilience and train individuals and groups to interrupt harm-doing and to 
promote sustainable, peaceful solutions to conflict.

• Circles of Support and Accountability: Teams of volunteers and staff meet with men
and women with histories of sexual offending to hold them accountable for their actions
and support them as they reintegrate into community after release from prison. The result
is fewer victims of violent and sexual crimes.

• Faith and community reintegration initiatives: MCC Ontario supports the return to
community of previously incarcerated women, helping them to positively reintegrate and
improve their lives and relationships through peer mentoring and skill development.

• Restorative justice and peacebuilding: The Restorative Justice program in Ontario
offers a variety of creative training opportunities for churches and community groups to
help tear down stereotypes and teach peacebuilding and active intervention skills.

Walking with People in Poverty

In Ontario, we respond to poverty by walking alongside marginalized people with compassion 
and caring. We help provide meaningful employment, promote sustainable livelihoods and 
create awareness through advocacy.

• Circle of Friends: Circle of Friends supports individuals and families around Kitchener-
Waterloo who are transitioning from homelessness anshelter livingng back into the
community. Small groups meet each week, creating a network of support for those in
transition.

• Raw Carrot Soup Enterprise: Through the sale of delicious, handcrafted gourmet soup,
the Raw Carrot Soup Enterprise creates meaningful employment for amazingly talented
individuals who face barriers to employment due to social exclusion.
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• Advocacy: We advocate for policies that contribute to peace and justice in Ontario. We work 
directly with people impacted by poverty and injustice to find ways that government policies and 
programs can be improved to help ensure everyone can live a life of dignity.

• People’s Action Group: PAG members are experts in the homelessness experience and provide 
opinions and share knowledge to guide the ongoing work of the housing stability system in the 
Waterloo Region. PAG includes people who have a lived experience of homelessness and have 
accessed supports available in the Waterloo Region housing stability system.

Go to mcc.org/Ontario to learn more about MCC Ontario’s local program activities and to read 
stories of impact and learning.
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Appendix 6: 
The working relationship between MCC Canada and MCC Ontario 

Working together in relief, development and peace in the name of Christ 

Mennonite Central Committee (MCC) is the shared identity of all MCCs in Canada (MCC British 
Columbia, MCC Alberta, MCC Saskatchewan, MCC Manitoba and MCC Ontario) and the 
United States but is not a single entity.   

Each MCC in its location is the face of the whole MCC and acts to balance the best interests of 
the whole system with its own local, fiduciary responsibilities. All MCCs, provincial and national 
share a common identity, a spirit of unity, and a single ministry of "service in the name of 
Christ." The provincial MCCs and MCC Canada ork together in mutual respect, collaboration, 
and partnership for the good of MCC.  

All the MCCs in Canada are independent, incorporated entities with separate boards. Each 
MCC has legal and fiduciary responsibilities and must comply with laws in its jurisdiction.  

In Ontario, MCC Ontario carries primary responsibility for managing fundraising activities for 
international and provincial programs with Ontario supporters, and manages Ontario Thrift 
Shops and constituency relationships in Ontario.  

The MCCs in Canada aim to share income in a way that balances a high commitment to 
international programs and operations, sound management of provincial/national programs and 
operations, and upholds the Canadian commitments in the MCC Canada and MCC U.S. 
covenant, including any financial benchmarks. A detailed formula for income sharing by the 
Canadian MCCs is created by unanimous agreement by the Canadian Executive Directors and 
reviewed by them not less than every three years.  
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MCC ONTARIO FUNDING SOURCES: 

$23,486,406

Core mission  
support: 
Fundraising
$1,034,523
5%

Core mission  
support: 
Administration 
$2,238,150$2,238,150
11%

Ontario 
programs: 
$4,202,117
20%

$2,218,441

$533,007 

$1,488,322

$530,262

Donations
Thrift

Estates & trusts
Other

Material resources
Relief sales

Grants (government and other)

Migration and Resettlement

Poverty

Indigenous Neighbours

Restorative Justice

Material Resources 

Peacebuilding & Education  

$13,870,960

$2,183,338

$4,733,563 

$645,947

$587,619

$274,097

$420,870

$35,466

$166,631

MCC ONTARIO DOLLARS AT WORK: 

$20,767,096
International 
programs:  
$13,292,306
64%

International 
programs: 

MCC ONTARIO PROGRAM DOLLARS AT WORK: 

$4,202,117

Source: MCC ONTARIO ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT 2022/2023  2022-2023 | MCC Ontario Year-End Report 
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Appendix 7: 

Financial highlights
The financial information on this page represents the operations of MCC Ontario for the year ending 
March 31, 2023 and has been prepared from the audited financial statements. Complete audited 
financial statements are available upon request or at MCCO.ca/annual-report.
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